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...for our customers
“Middleby Marshall has been an important partner
to Papa John’s since our first restaurants opened
more than 20 years ago. Customer service and the
superior technology of their conveyor ovens has
solidified our relationship over the decades. With
their new patented WOW! Oven, we will have the
best oven in the industry to more quickly and
better serve our customers a consistent delicious
product, while offering a substantial utility savings
to operators.”
NIGEL TRAVIS,
PRESIDENT AND CEO,
PAPA JOHN’S INTERNATIONAL, INC.

“We are training the future generation of chefs
and we require the highest standard in cooking
equipment. That is why we selected Southbend.
It has proven to be solid and well-made, the
best in the industry. But along with being a top
piece of equipment, Southbend goes above and
beyond for its customers, as the service we’ve
received has been exceptional.”
CHEF JOHN HIGGINS,
GEORGE BROWN CULINARY SCHOOL, TORONTO

“Our restaurants have a stellar reputation
because of Middleby brand cooking equipment.
Our customers expect the best and we only
use the best.”
BARRY DEVINE,
MORTON’S, THE STEAKHOUSE

“Middleby is a customer-centric company. They
will go above and beyond to find a solution
for any situation and their people have the same
‘can-do’ attitude as the restaurant community
they serve. I trust the Middleby brands, such as
Blodgett and Toastmaster, but perhaps even more
important, I trust the Middleby people.”
LARRY J. REINSTEIN,
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE, FRESH CITY

“Our kitchen is very tight and the restaurant can
get really busy so there is no room for error.
Using Middleby equipment means the tools we
need to do our job are reliable and can perform no
matter how many orders come in on a busy night.”
CHEF PAUL KAHAN,
BLACKBIRD RESTAURANT, CHICAGO

“After meeting at the 2005 NRA Show, Pitco and
the Middleby companies were with us every step
of the way. They worked with us on the equipment
required to fit our specific needs. As a 20-year-old
chain, we reviewed many options and brands,
but with Middleby’s response and their outstanding
engineering team, they were by far the best. They
designed and shipped the prototype 60 days after
our first meeting.”

“We are using Nu-Vu baking equipment, which
is the most reliable and consistent baking in the
industry. We compared Nu-Vu and other ovens,
and there was no comparison when it came to
the best end product!”
SAM SALEH,
NEOMONDE BAKING COMPANY

GREG DECELLE,
FRANCHISE DEVELOPMENT,
FIVE GUYS ENTERPRISES, LLC

“We prefer Southbend equipment because we
have found it to be the most reliable. Their service
is excellent and their people are responsive and
easy to do business with.”
JASON BURGESS,
CARRABBA’S

...for our shareholders
2003

IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA

Net sales

$

242,200

2004

$

271,115

2005

$

316,668

Gross profit

85,853

102,628

121,653

Income from operations

35,016

38,259

57,972

Net earnings

18,698

23,588

32,178

EPS on net earnings
Weighted average shares outstanding
Working capital

1.99

2.38

3.98

9,392,000

9,931,000

8,093,000

$

Total assets

3,490

$

10,923

$

7,590

194,620

209,675

263,918

Total debt

56,500

123,723

121,595

Stockholders’ equity

62,090

7,215

48,500
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Dear Shareholders
In fiscal 2005, The Middleby Corporation had strong organic
growth due to the launch of several innovative products and
the market share gains in emerging markets. Our brands
continued to gain strength. Building on the innovation award
earned by Middleby Marshall in 2004, Blodgett was named
“Best in Class” by leading industry consultants and Zagat’s
Guide 2005 ranked the fries prepared by Pitco fryers the best.

Acquisitions
Nu-Vu Foodservice Systems was acquired in January to give
Middleby a foothold in the on-premise baking market. A
leading oven supplier to the top global sandwich chains and
casual dining restaurants, Nu-Vu is well positioned to capitalize
on the growing foodservice trend of freshly baked breads.
This acquisition was integrated quickly during the year and
we realized substantial improvement in profitability as a result
of our actions.
In December we completed our second acquisition with
the purchase of Alkar Holdings, Inc. With the addition of the
Alkar and RapidPak brands, we expand our customer base to
include leading companies in the food processing industry.
Alkar and RapidPak are positioned to benefit from increasing
demand for precooked and convenience foods, as fewer
meals are being prepared at home. In the first few months
since completion of this acquisition, we have made substantial
progress in our integration efforts and expect this acquisition
to be accretive to 2006 net earnings.

Growth Drivers
The top five trends for 2005 and beyond driving our top
line growth are:
1. Increased attention to energy efficiency. Four out of five
restaurateurs anticipate utility expenses to eat more of their
bottom line in 2006. According to the National Restaurant
Association, 55 percent of operators plan to replace their
equipment with energy saving models within the next two
years. Middleby has been focused on energy savings since
2002. An example is our Middleby Marshall WOW Oven, a
new conveyor oven to be introduced in 2006. It is more than
25 percent faster and 40 percent more energy efficient than
current models.
2. Creating diversity on the menu. Diner’s appetites are growing
for more options and flavor sensations that can’t be easily
duplicated in their home kitchens. Tex-mex and pan Asian
influences are growing in popularity and expanding. This trend
is increasing the sales of our Southbend Platinum ranges, Pitco
fryers and MagiKitch’n charbroilers.

3. Rise of the bakery cafés. More restaurants are adding
bakeries and more cafés are now serving full breakfast.
These bakery cafés are buying ovens to bake breads, muffins,
croissants, biscuits…on premise. Blodgett and Nu-Vu are
leaders in restaurant baking ovens.
4. Growing popularity of deli sandwiches and wings. With
the fading of the low carb diet, consumers are back to eating
pastas and desserts. However, toasted sandwiches and chicken
wings are leading consumer trends. Pitco has worked with
leading chains on their chicken wing programs; Middleby
Marshall and Nu-Vu are working on conveyor ovens that can
toast sandwiches in one minute or less.
5. Expansion of take out and delivery. Similar to the quickserve restaurants, casual dining restaurants are now offering
take out and delivery menus to meet consumers' needs
for convenience and speed. This trend is pushing the sales
of our accelerated cooking platforms.

2005 Performance
All of the Middleby divisions delivered record-breaking sales
to lead the company to its best year ever. Total net sales hit
$316.8 million in fiscal 2005, compared to $271.1 million in
2004. Diluted earnings per share were $3.98 versus $2.38 from
the prior year. Sales volume improvement, acquisitions, and
continued efforts to improve operating efficiency generated
sizable improvements in gross profit, operating income, earnings
before taxes and net earnings despite rising steel prices. We
also reported record operating cash flows, which enabled
Middleby to fund the acquisitions completed in 2005 and
to reduce debt.
On behalf of everyone at Middleby, we’d like to thank
shareholders for their continued support.

S E L I M A . BA S S OU L
CH A I RM A N , PRE S I DE N T A N D
CH I E F E X E CU T I V E OF F I CE R

...with our brands
Southbend
Middleby Marshall
Blodgett
Equipment: Combi ovens,

convection ovens, ranges
Location: Burlington, Vermont
Awards: Food Equipment and

Supplies Best in Class, 2005.
Highlights: One of the most

recognizable names in the
foodservice industry, Blodgett
cooking equipment ranks at
the top of nearly every market
they serve, because of advanced
cooking technologies and
product reliability.

Pitco
Equipment: Fryers, pasta

cookers, rethermalizers
Location: Bow, New Hampshire
Awards: The 2005 Canadian

ESI Supplier of the Year from
the International Foodservice
Executives Assoc. Recognition
from the Professional Chefs
Assoc. for Solstice Mega Fry.

Equipment: Ranges,

Equipment: Conveyor ovens

broilers, steam equipment,
convection ovens

Location: Elgin, Illinois

Location: Fuquay-Varina, N.C.

Awards: Recipient of the

Awards: 2005 Heavy Duty

Chicago Sun-Times Innovation
Award for WOW! Oven
technology, 2004.

Equipment Supplier of the Year
from The National Equipment
and Supply Association (NESA).

Highlights: Middleby Marshall

Highlights: Southbend has

is the leader in the conveyor
oven market. Middleby
Marshall ovens are used by
most national and regional
pizza chains cooking more
than 2 billion pizzas annually.

patented features, such as
non-clog burners and “no-cold
zones” along with higher
BTUs, giving the brand the
reputation as the toughest
and most reliable equipment
in the industry.

Highlights: A leader in the

markets it serves, Pitco fryers
with Solstice technology are a
top choice at most fast-food
and casual dining restaurants.

MagiKitch’n

Alkar and RapidPak

Equipment: Charbroilers,

Business: Food processing

outdoor grills

and packaging

Location: Bow, New Hampshire

Location: Lodi, Wisconsin

Awards: In 2005, the
Professional Chef’s
Association recognized the
MagiKitch’n griddle.

Toastmaster

Highlights: Number one in

Location: Elgin, Illinois

broilers for outdoor grilling.
Griddle and charbroiler
combination improve labor
efficiency.

Highlights: A recognizable

Equipment: Toasters,

sandwich grills, warmers

brand name featuring
a broad line of toasting
equipment as well as
ranges, warmers and ovens.
The Toastmaster counterline
equipment has proven very
popular since its recent
introduction to the market.

Awards: 2005 Hormel
Supplier of the Year, AMI
Supplier of the Year.
Highlights: Acquired by
Middleby in December 2005,
Alkar manufacturers food
processing equipment while
RapidPak manufacturers
food packaging equipment.
Customers of Alkar and
RapidPak’s advanced
technologies include large
food processing companies.

Nu-Vu
Equipment: Baking ovens,
proofing equipment
Location: Menominee, Mich.
Awards: For innovation
developed in 2005, the Nu-Vu
Rhapsody ComboBake was
selected as a 2006 National
Restaurant Association Kitchen
Innovation Award Recipient.
Highlights: Nu-Vu was acquired
by Middleby in January,
2005. A recognized leader in
on-premise baking, Nu-Vu
equipment is used at many
well-known global sandwich
chains and other restaurants.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Net Sales Summary
Fiscal Year Ended(1)

2005

(dollars in thousands)

2004

2003

Sales

Percent

Sales

Percent

Sales

Percent

BUSINESS DIVISIONS:

Commercial Foodservice:
Core cooking equipment

$ 222,216

70.2

$ 185,520

68.4

$ 162,366

67.0

Conveyor oven equipment

55,270

17.5

54,183

20.0

49,236

20.3

Counterline cooking equipment

12,298

3.9

10,262

3.8

10,096

4.2

9,210

2.9

7,545

2.8

7,704

3.2

298,994

94.5

257,510

95.0

229,402

94.7

International specialty equipment
Commercial Foodservice
Industrial Foodservice
International Distribution(2)
Intercompany sales (3)
Total

2,837

0.9

—

—

—

—

53,989

17.0

46,146

17.0

42,698

17.6

(39,152)

(12.4)

(32,541)

(12.0)

(29,900)

(12.3)

$ 316,668

100.0%

$ 271,115

100.0%

$ 242,200

100.0%

(1) The company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31.
(2) Consists of sales of products manufactured by Middleby and products manufactured by third parties.
(3) Represents the elimination of sales amongst the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group and from
the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group to the International Distribution Division.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain items in the consolidated statements
of earnings as a percentage of net sales for the periods presented:
Fiscal Year Ended(1)
Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses

2005

2004

2003

100.0%

100.0%

100.0%

61.6

62.1

64.6

38.4

37.9

35.4
20.9

20.1

19.8

Stock repurchase transaction expenses

—

4.7

—

Acquisition integration reserve adjustments

—

(0.7)

—

Income from operations
Interest expense and deferred financing amortization, net

18.3

14.5

14.5

2.0

1.1

2.4
—

Debt extinguishment expenses

—

0.4

Gain on acquisition financing derivatives

—

(0.1)

—

Other expense, net

—

0.2

0.2

16.3

12.5

11.9

6.1

3.8

4.2

8.7%

7.7%

Earnings before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net earnings

10.2%

(1) The company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31.

5

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains “forward-looking statements” subject to the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These forwardlooking statements involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors, which could cause the company’s
actual results, performance or outcomes to differ materially from
those expressed or implied in the forward-looking statements.
The following are some of the important factors that could cause
the company’s actual results, performance or outcomes to differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements:
• volatility in earnings resulting from goodwill impairment losses,
which may occur irregularly and in varying amounts;
• variability in financing costs;
• quarterly variations in operating results;
• dependence on key customers;
• risks associated with the company’s foreign operations,
including market acceptance and demand for the company’s
products and the company’s ability to manage the risk associated
with the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• the company’s ability to protect its trademarks, copyrights and
other intellectual property;
• changing market conditions;
• the impact of competitive products and pricing;
• the timely development and market acceptance of the
company’s products; and
• the availability and cost of raw materials.
The company cautions readers to carefully consider the
statements set forth in the section entitled “Certain Risk Factors
That May Affect Future Risks” further below in this item and
discussion of risks included in the company’s Securities and
Exchange Commission filings.
Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2005 as
Compared to January 1, 2005

Net sales in fiscal 2005 increased by $45.6 million
or 16.8% to $316.7 million in fiscal 2005 from $271.1 million
in fiscal 2004.
Net sales of the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group
increased by $41.5 million or 16.1% to $299.0 million in 2005
as compared to $257.5 million in the prior year.

NET SALES.

• Core cooking equipment increased by $36.7 million or
19.8% to $222.2 million in 2005. The sales increase included
$16.0 million of sales at Nu-Vu Foodservice Systems which
was acquired on January 7, 2005 representing 8.6% of the
sales growth of the core cooking equipment product group.
The remaining $20.7 million in sales for this group reflects
continued success of recent product introductions including the
Solstice series of fryers, the Southbend Platinum series of ranges
and the Blodgett combi-oven and steam line.
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• Conveyor oven equipment sales increased by approximately
$1.1 million or 2.0% to $55.3 million. The increase in sales
reflects sales of the new 500 series product line of ovens, offset
in part by reduced sales of certain discontinued oven models
during 2005.
• Counterline cooking equipment sales increased by approximately $2.0 million or 19.8% as a result of increased sales of
a new series of counterline equipment introduced in 2004.
• International specialty equipment sales increased by $1.7
million or 22.1%. The increase in sales resulted from increased
product and component parts produced for the company’s
U.S. manufacturing operations.
Net sales at the Industrial Foodservice Equipment Group
were $2.8 million for the period subsequent to the acquisition of
Alkar on December 7, 2005.
Net sales of the International Distribution Division increased
by $7.9 million or 17.1% to $54.0 million. Sales increased in
all regions reflecting growth with the local restaurant chains and
expansion of U.S. restaurant concepts internationally. Net sales
included an increase of $3.5 million in Asia, $2.8 million in
Europe and the Middle East and $1.6 million in Latin America.
Intercompany sales eliminations represent sales of product
amongst the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group
operations and from the Commercial Foodservice Equipment
Group operations to the International Distribution Division.
The sales elimination increased by $6.7 million to $39.2 million
reflecting the increase in purchases of equipment by the
International Distribution Division from the Commercial
Foodservice Equipment Group due to increased sales volumes.
Gross profit increased by $19.0 million to $121.7
million in fiscal 2005 from $102.6 million in 2004 as a result of
increased sales volumes and improvements in the gross margin
rate, which increased to 38.4% in 2005 from 37.9% in 2004.
The improvement in the gross margin rate resulted from several
factors, including the following:
GROSS PROFIT.

• Increased sales volumes resulting in greater production
efficiencies and absorption of fixed overhead costs.
• Increased production efficiencies and lower warranty expenses
associated with new product introductions resulting from
standardization of product platforms and improvements of
product design for new generations of equipment.
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES. Selling,
general and administrative expenses decreased by $0.7 million to
$63.7 million in 2005 from $64.4 million in 2004.
Selling and distribution expenses increased to $33.8 million
in 2005 from $30.5 million in 2004. The increase included
incremental selling and distribution expenses of $1.0 million
associated with the operations of the acquisitions completed

during 2005. The remaining increase in selling and distribution
expense resulted primarily from increased commission expense
to the company’s independent sales representatives on higher
sales and increased promotional and marketing expenses. As a
percentage of net sales, selling and distribution expenses decreased
to 10.7% in 2005 from 11.2% in 2004.
General and administrative expenses increased to $29.9 million
in 2005 from $23.1 million in 2004. The increase included
incremental general and administrative expenses of $1.1 million
associated with the operations of the acquisitions completed in
2005. The remaining increase in general and administrative
expenses includes $3.3 million of non-cash stock compensation
expense and $2.1 million increase in professional fees associated
with acquisitions, Sarbanes-Oxley compliance and other legal
matters. As a percentage of net sales, general and administrative
expenses were 9.4% in 2005 compared to the prior year of 8.5%.
Stock repurchase transaction expenses of $12.6 million
were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004 associated with
the repurchase of 1,808,774 shares of the company’s common
stock and 271,000 stock options from the company’s former
chairman, members of his family and trusts controlled by his
family. Expenses included $8.0 million of costs associated with
the repurchase of the 271,000 stock options, $1.9 million related
to a pension settlement with the former chairman and $2.7
million of investment banking, legal, and various other costs
associated with the transaction.
Acquisition reserve adjustments of $1.9 million were recorded
during fiscal 2004, primarily consisting of a gain resulting from
an early lease termination that occurred in conjunction with the
sale of a leased facility to an unrelated third party. The leased
facility was originally exited in early 2002 subsequent to the
acquisition of Blodgett as a result of the company’s manufacturing
consolidation efforts.
Income from operations increased
$19.7 million to $58.0 million in fiscal 2005 from $38.3 million
in fiscal 2004. The increase in operating income resulted from the
increase in net sales and gross profit and the absence of the stock
repurchase transactions expenses that incurred in 2004.

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS.

NON-OPERATING EXPENSES. Non-operating expenses increased by
$2.2 million to $6.6 million in 2005 from $4.4 million in 2004.
The net increase in non-operating expenses included:

• A $3.4 million increase in interest expense to $6.4 million in
2005 from $3.0 million in 2004 resulting from higher average
debt during the year due to the $84 million December 2004
stock repurchase transaction and higher rates of interest.
• An decrease of $1.2 million pertaining to the write-off in fiscal
2004 of deferred financing costs related to the company’s
previous bank facility, which was refinanced as a result of the
stock repurchase transaction.

• A $0.3 million decrease in the gain on financing related
derivatives.
• A $0.4 million decrease in other expense, primarily due to
lower foreign exchange losses.
INCOME TAXES. The company recorded a net tax provision of
$19.2 million in fiscal 2005 at an effective rate of 37.4% as
compared to a provision of $10.3 million at an effective rate of
30.3% in the prior year. The 2004 tax provision included a $3.2
million tax benefit recorded during the third quarter associated
with an adjustment to tax reserves for a closed tax year.

Fiscal Year Ended January 1, 2005 as
Compared to January 3, 2004

Net sales in fiscal 2004 increased by $28.9 million or
11.9% to $271.1 million in fiscal 2004 from $242.2 million in
fiscal 2003.
Net sales at the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group
increased by $28.1 million or 12.2% to $257.5 million in 2004
as compared to $229.4 million in the prior year.
NET SALES.

• Core cooking equipment increased by $23.1 million or 14.2%
to $185.5 million in 2004. Fryer sales grew by approximately
$6.7 million due in part to continued success of the Solstice
fryer platform. Sales of convection and combi-ovens increased
by approximately $6.2 million with increased sales to institutional customers due in part to improved market conditions
and success of new product introductions. Range sales grew by
approximately $4.2 million with continued success of the new
Platinum series of products. Sales of steam equipment increased
by approximately $2.5 million due to the introduction of steam
products under the Blodgett brand name and success of the
newly introduced StratoSteam steamer under the Southbend
brand name.
• Conveyor oven equipment sales increased by approximately
$4.9 million or 10.0% to $54.2 million. Increased sales reflect
the success of the company’s new generation of more energy
efficient conveyor ovens. Improved sales also reflect greater sales
with certain major restaurant chain accounts, which increased
their purchases during the year. Parts sales also increased
reflecting higher prices of parts and increased sales volume
resulting from an aging base of equipment.
• Counterline cooking equipment sales increased by approximately
$0.2 million or 1.6% and included sales of a new series of
counterline equipment introduced in 2004.
• International specialty equipment sales decreased by $0.2 million
or 2.1%. The decrease in sales resulted from lower component
parts produced for the company’s U.S. manufacturing operations.
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Net sales at the International Distribution Division increased
by $3.4 million or 8.1% to $46.1 million. Sales increased in all
regions reflecting growth with the local restaurant chains in Latin
America and Europe, and expansion of U.S. restaurant concepts
in Asia and Australia.
Intercompany sales eliminations represent sales of product
amongst the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group
operations and from the Commercial Foodservice Equipment
Group operations to the International Distribution Division.
The sales elimination increased by $2.6 million to $32.5 million
reflecting the increase in purchases of equipment by the
International Distribution Division from the Commercial
Foodservice Equipment Group due to increased sales volumes.
Gross profit increased by $16.8 million to
$102.6 million in fiscal 2004 from $85.9 million in 2003 as a
result of increased sales volume and improvements in the gross
margin rate, which increased to 37.9% in 2004 from 35.4% in
2003. The improvement in the gross margin rate resulted from
several factors, including the following:

GROSS PROFIT.

• Increased sales volumes resulting in greater production
efficiencies and absorption of fixed overhead costs.
• Material cost savings resulting from supply chain initiatives
instituted in fiscal 2004.
• Increased production efficiencies and lower warranty expenses
associated with new product introductions resulting from
standardization of product platforms and improvements of
product design for new generations of equipment.
Selling,
general and administrative expenses increased by $13.5 million
to $64.4 million in 2004 from $50.8 million in 2003. This
increase included $12.6 million of expense associated with the
stock repurchase transaction and $1.9 of income resulting from
adjustments to acquisition integration reserves.
Selling and distribution expenses increased to $30.5 million
in 2004 from $29.6 million in 2003. The increase in selling and
distribution expense resulted from increased commission expense
to the company’s independent sales representatives on higher sales.
As a percentage of net sales, selling and distribution expenses
decreased to 11.2% in 2004 from 12.2% in 2003.
General and administrative expenses increased to $23.1
million in 2004 from $21.2 million in 2003. The increase in
general and administrative expenses is primarily due to increased
incentive compensation expenses corresponding with the
improved financial performance of the company. The company
also incurred higher professional fees associated with SarbanesOxley compliance. As a percentage of net sales, general and
administrative expenses were 8.5% in 2004 compared to the
prior year of 8.8%.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES.
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Stock repurchase transaction expenses of $12.6 million
were recorded in the fourth quarter of 2004 associated with the
repurchase of 1,808,774 shares of the company’s common stock
and 271,000 stock options from the company’s former chairman,
members of his family and trusts controlled by his family.
Expenses included $8.0 million of costs associated with the
repurchase of the 271,000 stock options, $1.9 million related to
a pension settlement with the former chairman and $2.7 million
of investment banking, legal, and various other costs associated
with the transaction.
Acquisition reserve adjustments of $1.9 million were recorded
during fiscal 2004, primarily consisting of a gain resulting from
an early lease termination that occurred in conjunction with the
sale of a leased facility to an unrelated third party. The leased
facility was originally exited in early 2002 subsequent to the
acquisition of Blodgett as a result of the company’s manufacturing
consolidation efforts.
Income from operations increased
$3.2 million to $38.3 million in fiscal 2004 from $35.0 million in
fiscal 2003. The increase in operating income resulted from the
increase in net sales and gross profit offset by the stock repurchase
transaction expenses.

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS.

NON-OPERATING EXPENSES. Non-operating expenses decreased by
$1.8 million to $4.4 million in 2004 from $6.2 million in 2003.
The net decrease in non-operating expenses included:

• A $2.9 million reduction in interest expense to $3.0 million
in 2004 from $5.9 million in 2003 resulting from lower
average debt during the year and lower rates of interest assessed
on outstanding balances due in part to a refinancing of the
company’s debt facility in May 2004.
• A increase of $1.2 million pertaining to the write-off of
deferred financing costs related to the company’s previous
bank facility, which was refinanced as a result of the stock
repurchase transaction.
• A $0.2 million increase in the gain on financing related
derivatives to $0.3 million in 2004 from $0.1 million in 2003
with gains on interest rate swaps that occurred as interest rates
rose in 2004.
INCOME TAXES. The company recorded a net tax provision of
$10.3 million in fiscal 2004 at an effective rate of 30.3% as
compared to a provision of $10.1 million at an effective rate of
35.1% in the prior year. The 2004 tax provision included a $3.2
million tax benefit recorded during the third quarter associated
with an adjustment to tax reserves for a closed tax year.

Financial Condition and Liquidity

Total cash and cash equivalents increased by $0.1 million to
$3.9 million at December 31, 2005 from $3.8 million at
January 1, 2005. Net borrowings decreased to $121.6 million at
December 31, 2005 from $123.7 million at January 1, 2005.

Net cash provided by operating activities
amounted to $42.3 million as compared to $18.5 million in
the prior year. Adjustments to reconcile 2005 net earnings to
operating cash flows included $3.6 million of depreciation and
amortization and $3.3 million of non-cash stock compensation
expense. The net change in deferred taxes resulted in a $0.8
decrease in cash. Accounts receivable increased $3.6 million and
inventories increased $1.3 million due to increased sales volumes.
Prepaid expenses and other assets decreased $7.2 million to
the utilization of tax overpayments from 2004. Accounts payable
decreased $0.5 million due to normal operating variations
resulting from the timing of vendor purchases and payments.
Accrued expenses and other liabilities increased $0.4 million due
to increases in rebate and warranty obligations on higher sales,
offset by lower pension obligations due to the pension settlement
with the former chairman.
OPERATING ACTIVITIES.

INVESTING ACTIVITIES. During 2005 net cash used for investing
activities amounted to $ 41.0 million. This included $1.4 million
of property additions primarily associated with the replacement
and upgrade of production equipment and $11.5 million associated with the acquisition of Nu-Vu and $28.2 million associated
with the acquisition of Alkar.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES. Net cash used in financing activities
amounted to $1.2 million in 2005. This included repayments of
$10.0 million of scheduled payments on the senior term loan and
$0.3 million of scheduled repayments under a note obligation,
net of borrowings of $5.0 million under the company’s revolving
credit facility and $3.2 million under a foreign bank loan. The
company also received $1.0 million of proceeds associated with
the exercise of stock options.
In 2006, the company has scheduled debt repayments of
$12.5 million in connection with its senior bank term loan.
The company believes that cash flows from operations and
borrowing availability under the revolving credit facility will
be sufficient to satisfy debt obligations, capital expenditures
and working capital requirements for the foreseeable future.
At December 31, 2005 the company was in compliance with
all covenants pursuant to its borrowing agreements.

Contractual Obligations

The company’s contractual cash payment obligations are set
forth below (dollars in thousands):
Long-term
Debt

Less than 1 year

$ 13,780

Operating
Leases

$

908

1-3 years

32,560

681

4-5 years

75,255
—

After 5 years

$121,595

$

$

Idle
Facility
Lease

Total
Contractual
Cash
Obligations

303

$ 14,991

667

33,908

360

778

76,393

111

2,019

2,130

3,767

$127,422

2,060

$

Idle facility lease consists of an obligation for a manufacturing location that was exited in conjunction with the company’s
manufacturing consolidation efforts. This lease obligation
continues through December 2014. This facility has been
subleased. The obligation presented above does not reflect any
anticipated sublease income from the facilities.
As indicated in Note 13 to the consolidated financial
statements, the projected benefit obligation of the defined benefit
plans exceeded the plans’ assets by $2.4 million at the end of 2005
as compared to $5.0 million at the end of 2004. The unfunded
benefit obligations were comprised of a $1.0 million under
funding of the company’s union plan and $1.4 million of under
funding of the company’s director plans. The decrease in the
unfunded benefit obligations resulted from the pension settlement
with the company’s former chairman of its board of directors.
Payments aggregating to $7.8 million were made to settle this
obligation in 2005. The company made contributions of
$3.8 million in 2005 and $1.6 million in 2004 to the company’s
director plans. The company does not expect to contribute to
the director plans in 2006. The company made minimum contributions required by the Employee Retirement Income Security
Act of 1974 (“ERISA”) of $0.3 million in 2005 and $0.2 million
in 2004 to the company’s union plan. The company expects to
continue to make minimum contributions to the union plan as
required by ERISA.
The company places purchase orders with its suppliers in
the ordinary course of business. These purchase orders are
generally to fulfill short-term manufacturing requirements of less
than 90 days and most are cancelable with a restocking penalty.
The company has no long-term purchase contracts or minimum
purchase obligations with any supplier.
The company has contractual obligations under its various
debt agreements to make interest payments. These amounts are
subject to the level of borrowings in future periods and the
interest rate for the applicable periods, and therefore the amounts
of these payments is not determinable.
The company has no activities, obligations or exposures
associated with off-balance sheet arrangements.
Interest Rate Risk

The company is exposed to market risk related to changes in
interest rates. The following table summarizes the maturity of the
company’s debt obligations:
(dollars in thousands)

2006

$

Fixed
Rate Debt

Variable
Rate Debt

—

$ 13,780

2007

—

16,280

2008

—

16,280

2009

—

75,255

—

$121,595

$
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During the fourth quarter of 2005 the company amended its
senior secured credit facility. Terms of the senior credit agreement
provide for $60.0 million of term loans and $130.0 million of
availability under a revolving credit line. As of December 31,
2005, the company had $116.3 million of borrowings outstanding
under this facility, including $56.3 million of borrowings under
the revolving credit line. The company also has $8.5 million in
outstanding letters of credit, which reduces the borrowing availability under the revolving credit line.
Borrowings under the senior secured credit facility are
assessed at an interest rate at 1.25% above LIBOR for long-term
borrowings or at the higher of the Prime rate and the Federal
Funds Rate. At December 31, 2005 the average interest rate on
the senior debt amounted to 5.7%. The interest rates on borrowings under the senior bank facility may be adjusted quarterly
based on the company’s defined indebtedness ratio on a rolling
four-quarter basis. Additionally, a commitment fee, based upon
the indebtedness ratio is charged on the unused portion of the
revolving credit line. This variable commitment fee amounted to
0.25% as of December 31, 2005.
In December 2005, the company entered into a $3.2 million
U.S. dollar secured term loan at its subsidiary in Spain. This
term loan amortizes in equal monthly installments over a fouryear period ending December 2009. Borrowings under this facility
are assessed at an interest rate of 0.45% above LIBOR. At
December 31, 2005 the interest rate on this loan was 4.83%.
In November 2004, the company entered into a promissory
note in conjunction with the release and early termination of
obligations under a lease agreement relative to a manufacturing
facility in Shelburne, Vermont. The remaining note of $2.1
million is assessed interest at 4.0% above LIBOR with an interest
rate cap of 9.0%. At year-end the interest rate on the note was
approximately 8.3%. The note amortizes monthly and matures
in December 2009.
The company has historically entered into interest rate swap
agreements to effectively fix the interest rate on its outstanding
debt. In January 2002, the company had entered into an interest
rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $20.0 million.
This agreement swapped one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of
4.03% and was in effect through December 2004. In February
2003, the company entered into an interest rate swap agreement
for a notional amount of $10.0 million. This agreement swapped
one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 2.36% and was in effect
through December 2005. In January 2005, the company entered
into an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of
$70.0 million. This agreement swaps one-month LIBOR for a
fixed rate of 3.78%. The notional amount amortizes consistent
with the repayment schedule of the company’s term loan maturing
November 2009. The unamortized amount of this swap was
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$60.0 million at December 31, 2005. In January 2006,
subsequent to the fiscal 2005 year end, the company entered into
an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $10.0
million maturing on December 21, 2009. This agreement swaps
one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 5.03%.
The terms of the senior secured credit facility limit the
paying of dividends, capital expenditures and leases, and require,
among other things, certain ratios of indebtedness and fixed
charge coverage. The credit agreement also provides that if a
material adverse change in the company’s business operations or
conditions occurs, the lender could declare an event of default.
Under terms of the agreement a material adverse effect is defined
as (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect
upon, the operations, business properties, condition (financial
and otherwise) or prospects of the company and its subsidiaries
taken as a whole; (b) a material impairment of the ability of the
company to perform under the loan agreements and to avoid any
event of default; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality,
validity, binding effect or enforceability against the company
of any loan document. A material adverse effect is determined on
a subjective basis by the company’s creditors. At December 31,
2005, the company was in compliance with all covenants pursuant
to its borrowing agreements.
Foreign Exchange Derivative Financial Instruments

The company uses derivative financial instruments, principally
foreign currency forward purchase and sale contracts with terms
of less than one year, to hedge its exposure to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. The company’s primary hedging
activities are to mitigate its exposure to changes in exchange rates
on intercompany and third party trade receivables and payables.
The company does not currently enter into derivative financial
instruments for speculative purposes. In managing its foreign
currency exposures, the company identifies and aggregates naturally
occurring offsetting positions and then hedges residual balance
sheet exposures.
The company accounts for its derivative financial instruments
in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities”, which was adopted in the
first quarter of 2001. In accordance with SFAS No.133, as
amended, these instruments are recognized on the balance sheet
as either an asset or a liability measured at fair value. Changes in
the market value and the related foreign exchange gains and losses
are recorded in the statement of earnings.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and
results of operations are based upon the company’s consolidated
financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

The preparation of these financial statements requires the
company to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as
well as related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, the company
evaluates its estimates and judgments based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT. Property and equipment are
depreciated or amortized on a straight-line basis over their useful
lives based on management’s estimates of the period over which
the assets will be utilized to benefit the operations of the company.
The useful lives are estimated based on historical experience with
similar assets, taking into account anticipated technological or
other changes. The company periodically reviews these lives
relative to physical factors, economic factors and industry trends.
If there are changes in the planned use of property and equipment
or if technological changes were to occur more rapidly than
anticipated, the useful lives assigned to these assets may need to be
shortened, resulting in the recognition of increased depreciation
and amortization expense in future periods.

Long-lived assets (including goodwill
and other intangibles) are reviewed for impairment annually and
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In assessing
the recoverability of the company’s long-lived assets, the company
considers changes in economic conditions and makes assumptions
regarding estimated future cash flows and other factors. Estimates
of future cash flows are judgments based on the company’s
experience and knowledge of operations. These estimates can be
significantly impacted by many factors including changes in
global and local business and economic conditions, operating
costs, inflation, competition, and consumer and demographic
trends. If the company’s estimates or the underlying assumptions
change in the future, the company may be required to record
impairment charges.

LONG-LIVED ASSETS.

In the normal course of business the company issues
product warranties for specific product lines and provides for the
estimated future warranty cost in the period in which the sale is
recorded. The estimate of warranty cost is based on contract terms
and historical warranty loss experience that is periodically adjusted
for recent actual experience. Because warranty estimates are
forecasts that are based on the best available information, claims
costs may differ from amounts provided. Adjustments to initial
obligations for warranties are made as changes in the obligations
become reasonably estimable.
WARRANTY.

From time to time, the company is subject to
proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to products,
suppliers, employees, customers and competitors. The company
maintains insurance to partially cover product liability, workers
compensation, property and casualty, and general liability matters.
The company is required to assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges
of probable losses. A determination of the amount of accrual
required, if any, for these contingencies is made after assessment
of each matter and the related insurance coverage. The reserve
requirements may change in the future due to new developments
or changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy
in dealing with these matters. The company does not believe
that any pending litigation will have a material adverse effect on
its financial condition or results of operations.

LITIGATION.

The company operates in numerous foreign and
domestic taxing jurisdictions where it is subject to various types
of tax, including sales tax and income tax. The company’s tax
filings are subject to audits and adjustments. Because of the nature
of the company’s operations, the nature of the audit items can
be complex, and the objectives of the government auditors can
result in a tax on the same transaction or income in more than
one state or country. As part of the company’s calculation of the
provision for taxes, the company establishes reserves for the
amount that it expects to incur as a result of audits. The reserves
may change in the future due to new developments related to the
various tax matters.

INCOME TAXES.

Certain Risk Factors That May Affect Future Results

An investment in shares of the company’s common stock involves
risks. The company believes the risks and uncertainties described
below and in “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking
Statements” are the material risks it faces. Additional risks and
uncertainties not currently known to the company or that it
currently deems immaterial may impair its business operations.
If any of the following risks actually occurs, the company’s
business, results of operations and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected, and the trading price of the
company’s common stock could decline.
THE COMPANY’S LEVEL OF INDEBTEDNESS COULD ADVERSELY
AFFECT ITS BUSINESS, RESULTS OF OPERATIONS AND GROWTH
STRATEGY. The company now has and may continue to have a
significant amount of debt. At December 31, 2005, the company
had $121.6 million of borrowings and $8.5 million in letters of
credit outstanding. To the extent the company requires capital
resources, there can be no assurance that such funds will be
available on favorable terms, or at all. The unavailability of funds
could have a material adverse effect on the company’s financial
condition, results of operations and ability to expand the
company’s operations.
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The company’s level of indebtedness could adversely affect
it in a number of ways, including the following:
• the company may be unable to obtain additional financing for
working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions and other
general corporate purposes;
• a significant portion of the company’s cash flow from
operations must be dedicated to debt service, which reduces the
amount of cash the company has available for other purposes;
• the company may be more vulnerable to a downturn in the
company business or economic and industry conditions;
• the company may be disadvantaged as compared to its
competitors, such as in the ability to adjust to changing market
conditions, as a result of the significant amount of debt the
company owes; and
• the company may be restricted in its ability to make strategic
acquisitions and to pursue business opportunities.
THE COMPANY’S CURRENT CREDIT AGREEMENT LIMITS ITS ABILITY
TO CONDUCT BUSINESS, WHICH COULD NEGATIVELY AFFECT THE
COMPANY’S ABILITY TO FINANCE FUTURE CAPITAL NEEDS AND

The covenants in the
company’s existing credit agreement contain a number of significant
limitations on its ability to, among other things:

ENGAGE IN OTHER BUSINESS ACTIVITIES.

• pay dividends;
• incur additional indebtedness;
• create liens on the company’s assets;
• engage in new lines of business;
• make investments;
• make capital expenditures and enter into leases; and
• acquire or dispose of assets.
These restrictive covenants, among others, could negatively
affect the company’s ability to finance its future capital needs,
engage in other business activities or withstand a future downturn
in the company’s business or the economy.
Under the company’s current credit agreement, the company
is required to maintain certain specified financial ratios and meet
financial tests, including certain ratios of leverage and fixed charge
coverage. The company’s ability to comply with these requirements
may be affected by matters beyond its control, and, as a result,
the company cannot assure you that it will be able to meet these
ratios and tests. A breach of any of these covenants would prevent
the company from being able to draw under the company revolver
and would result in a default under the company’s credit agreement. In the event of a default under the company’s current credit
agreement, the lenders could terminate their commitments and
declare all amounts borrowed, together with accrued interest and
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other fees, to be due and payable. Borrowings under other debt
instruments that contain cross-acceleration or cross-default provisions may also be accelerated and become due and payable. The
company may be unable to pay these debts in these circumstances.
COMPETITION IN THE FOODSERVICE EQUIPMENT INDUSTRY
IS INTENSE AND COULD IMPACT THE COMPANY RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS AND CASH FLOWS. The company operates in a highly
competitive industry. In the company’s business, competition
is based on product features and design, brand recognition,
reliability, durability, technology, energy efficiency, breadth of
product offerings, price, customer relationships, delivery lead
times, serviceability and after-sale service. The company has a
number of competitors in each product line that it offers. Many
of the company’s competitors are substantially larger and enjoy
substantially greater financial, marketing, technological and
personnel resources. These factors may enable them to develop
similar or superior products, to provide lower cost products and
to carry out their business strategies more quickly and efficiently
than the company can. In addition, some competitors focus on
particular product lines or geographical regions or emphasize their
local manufacturing presence or local market knowledge. Some
competitors have different pricing structures and may be able
to deliver their products at lower prices. Although the company
believes that the performance and price characteristics of its
products will provide competitive solutions for the company
customers’ needs, there can be no assurance that the company’s
customers will continue to choose its products over products
offered by the company competitors.
Further, the market for the company’s products is characterized by changing technology and evolving industry standards.
The company’s ability to compete in the past has depended in
part on the company’s ability to develop innovative new products
and bring them to market more quickly than the company’s
competitors. The company’s ability to compete successfully will
depend, in large part, on its ability to enhance and improve its
existing products, to continue to bring innovative products to
market in a timely fashion, to adapt the company’s products to
the needs and standards of the company customers and potential
customers and to continue to improve operating efficiencies and
lower manufacturing costs. Moreover, competitors may develop
technologies or products that render the company’s products
obsolete or less marketable. If the company’s products, markets
and services are not competitive, the company’s business, financial
condition and operating results will be materially harmed.
THE COMPANY IS SUBJECT TO RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH DEVELOPING
PRODUCTS AND TECHNOLOGIES, WHICH COULD DELAY PRODUCT
INTRODUCTIONS AND RESULT IN SIGNIFICANT EXPENDITURES.

The company continually seeks to refine and improve upon the
performance, utility and physical attributes of its existing products

and to develop new products. As a result, the company’s business
is subject to risks associated with new product and technological
development, including unanticipated technical or other problems.
The occurrence of any of these risks could cause a substantial
change in the design, delay in the development, or abandonment
of new technologies and products. Consequently, there can be
no assurance that the company will develop new technologies
superior to the company’s current technologies or successfully
bring new products to market.
Additionally, there can be no assurance that new technologies
or products, if developed, will meet the company’s current price
or performance objectives, be developed on a timely basis or prove
to be as effective as products based on other technologies. The
inability to successfully complete the development of a product, or
a determination by the company, for financial, technical or other
reasons, not to complete development of a product, particularly in
instances in which the company has made significant expenditures,
could have a material adverse effect on the company’s financial
condition and operating results.
THE COMPANY’S REVENUES AND PROFITS WILL BE ADVERSELY

If these chains were to conclude that the market for their type of
restaurant has become saturated, they could open fewer restaurants.
In addition, during an economic downturn, key customers could
both open fewer restaurants and defer purchases of new equipment for existing restaurants. Either of these conditions could
have a material adverse effect on the company’s financial condition
and results of operations.
PRICE CHANGES IN SOME MATERIALS AND SOURCES OF SUPPLY

The company
uses large amounts of stainless steel, aluminized steel and other
commodities in the manufacture of its products. The price of steel
increased significantly during 2004 and has continued to increase
in 2005. The significant increase in the price of steel or any
other commodity that the company is not able to pass on to its
customers would adversely affect the company’s operating results.
In addition, an interruption in or the cessation of an important
supply by any third party and the company’s inability to make
alternative arrangements in a timely manner, or at all, could have
a material adverse effect on the company’s business, financial
condition and operating results.
COULD AFFECT THE COMPANY’S PROFITABILITY.

AFFECTED IF IT IS UNABLE TO EXPAND ITS PRODUCT OFFERINGS,
RETAIN ITS CURRENT CUSTOMERS, OR ATTRACT NEW CUSTOMERS.

The success of the company’s business depends, in part, on its
ability to maintain and expand the company’s product offerings
and the company’s customer base. The company’s success also
depends on its ability to offer competitive prices and services in a
price sensitive business. Many of the company’s larger restaurant
chain customers have multiple sources of supply for their
equipment purchases and periodically approve new competitive
equipment as an alternative to the company’s products for use
within their restaurants. The company cannot assure you that it
will be able to continue to expand the company product lines, or
that it will be able to retain the company’s current customers or
attract new customers. The company also cannot assure you that
it will not lose customers to low-cost competitors with comparable
or superior products and services. If the company fails to expand
its product offerings, or lose a substantial number of the
company’s current customers or substantial business from current
customers, or are unable to attract new customers, the company’s
business, financial condition and results of operations will be
adversely affected.
THE COMPANY HAS DEPENDED, AND WILL CONTINUE TO DEPEND,
ON KEY CUSTOMERS FOR A MATERIAL PORTION OF ITS REVENUES.
AS A RESULT, CHANGES IN THE PURCHASING PATTERNS OF
SUCH KEY CUSTOMERS COULD ADVERSELY IMPACT THE COMPANY’S

Many of the company’s key customers are
large restaurant chains. The number of new store openings by
these chains can vary from quarter to quarter depending on
internal growth plans, construction, seasonality and other factors.

OPERATING RESULTS.

THE COMPANY’S ACQUISITION, INVESTMENT AND ALLIANCE
STRATEGY INVOLVES RISKS. IF THE COMPANY IS UNABLE
TO EFFECTIVELY MANAGE THESE RISKS, ITS BUSINESS WILL BE

To achieve the company’s strategic
objectives, it may in the future seek to acquire or invest in other
companies, businesses or technologies. Acquisitions entail
numerous risks, including the following:

MATERIALLY HARMED.

• difficulties in the assimilation of acquired businesses or
technologies;
• diversion of management’s attention from other business
concerns;
• potential assumption of unknown material liabilities;
• failure to achieve financial or operating objectives; and
• loss of customers or key employees.
The company may not be able to successfully integrate any
operations, personnel, services or products that it has acquired or
may acquire in the future.
The company may seek to expand or enhance some of
its operations by forming joint ventures or alliances with various
strategic partners throughout the world. Entering into joint
ventures and alliances also entails risks, including difficulties in
developing and expanding the businesses of newly formed
joint ventures, exercising influence over the activities of joint
ventures in which the company does not have a controlling
interest and potential conflicts with the company’s joint venture
or alliance partners.
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EXPANSION OF THE COMPANY’S OPERATIONS INTERNATIONALLY
INVOLVES SPECIAL CHALLENGES THAT IT MAY NOT BE ABLE TO MEET.
THE COMPANY’S FAILURE TO MEET THESE CHALLENGES COULD
ADVERSELY AFFECT ITS BUSINESS, FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
OPERATING RESULTS. The company plans to continue to expand
its operations internationally. The company faces certain risks
inherent in doing business in international markets. These risks
include:

• becoming subject to extensive regulations and oversight, tariffs
and other trade barriers;
• reduced protection for intellectual property rights;
• difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations; and
• potentially adverse tax consequences.
In addition, the company will be required to comply with
the laws and regulations of foreign governmental and regulatory
authorities of each country in which the company conducts
business.
The company cannot assure you that it will be able to
succeed in marketing the company products and services in
international markets. The company may also experience difficulty
in managing the company’s international operations because of,
among other things, competitive conditions overseas, management
of foreign exchange risk, established domestic markets, language
and cultural differences and economic or political instability. Any
of these factors could have a material adverse effect on the success
of the company’s international operations and, consequently, on
the company’s business, financial condition and operating results.
THE COMPANY MAY NOT BE ABLE TO ADEQUATELY PROTECT ITS
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS, AND THIS INABILITY MAY

The company relies primarily
on trade secret, copyright, service mark, trademark and patent law
and contractual protections to protect the company proprietary
technology and other proprietary rights. The company has filed
numerous patent applications covering the company technology.
Notwithstanding the precautions the company takes to protect
the company intellectual property rights, it is possible that third
parties may copy or otherwise obtain and use the company’s
proprietary technology without authorization or may otherwise
infringe on the company’s rights. In some cases, including a
number of the company’s most important products, there may
be no effective legal recourse against duplication by competitors.
The company is currently involved in a dispute associated
with the development of cooking technology with Enersyst
Development Center, LLC, which was acquired by TurboChef
Technologies, Inc. in 2004. The company has instituted arbitration
proceedings with respect to this dispute and intends to litigate
the matter vigorously. In the future, the company may have to rely
on litigation to enforce its intellectual property rights, protect its

MATERIALLY HARM ITS BUSINESS.
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trade secrets, determine the validity and scope of the proprietary
rights of others or defend against claims of infringement or
invalidity. Any such litigation, whether successful or unsuccessful,
could result in substantial costs to the company and diversions
of the company’s resources, either of which could adversely affect
the company’s business.
ANY INFRINGEMENT BY THE COMPANY ON PATENT RIGHTS OF
OTHERS COULD RESULT IN LITIGATION AND ADVERSELY AFFECT
ITS ABILITY TO CONTINUE TO PROVIDE, OR COULD INCREASE THE
COST OF PROVIDING THE COMPANY’S PRODUCTS AND SERVICES.

Patents of third parties may have an important bearing on the
company’s ability to offer some of its products and services. The
company’s competitors, as well as other companies and individuals,
may obtain, and may be expected to obtain in the future, patents
related to the types of products and service the company offers
or plan to offer. The company cannot assure you that it is or will
be aware of all patents containing claims that may pose a risk of
infringement by the company’s products and services. In addition,
some patent applications in the United States are confidential
until a patent is issued and, therefore, the company cannot evaluate the extent to which its products and services may be covered
or asserted to be covered by claims contained in pending patent
applications. In general, if one or more of the company’s products
or services were to infringe patents held by others, the company
may be required to stop developing or marketing the products
or services, to obtain licenses from the holders of the patents to
develop and market the services, or to redesign the products or
services in such a way as to avoid infringing on the patent claims.
The company cannot assess the extent to which it may be required
in the future to obtain licenses with respect to patents held by
others, whether such licenses would be available or, if available,
whether it would be able to obtain such licenses on commercially
reasonable terms. If the company were unable to obtain such
licenses, it also may not be able to redesign the company’s products or services to avoid infringement, which could materially
adversely affect the company’s business, financial condition and
operating results.
THE COMPANY MAY BE THE SUBJECT OF PRODUCT LIABILITY
CLAIMS OR PRODUCT RECALLS, AND IT MAY BE UNABLE TO OBTAIN
OR MAINTAIN INSURANCE ADEQUATE TO COVER POTENTIAL
LIABILITIES. Product liability is a significant commercial risk to the
company. The company’s business exposes it to potential liability
risks that arise from the manufacture, marketing and sale of the
company’s products. In addition to direct expenditures
for damages, settlement and defense costs, there is a possibility of
adverse publicity as a result of product liability claims. Some
plaintiffs in some jurisdictions have received substantial damage
awards against companies based upon claims for injuries allegedly
caused by the use of their products. In addition, it may be

necessary for the company to recall products that do not meet
approved specifications, which could result in adverse publicity
as well as costs connected to the recall and loss of revenue.
The company cannot be certain that a product liability claim
or series of claims brought against it would not have an adverse
effect on the company’s business, financial condition or results of
operations. If any claim is brought against the company, regardless
of the success or failure of the claim, the company cannot assure
you that it will be able to obtain or maintain product liability
insurance in the future on acceptable terms or with adequate
coverage against potential liabilities or the cost of a recall.

complies with applicable environmental laws, it may be subject
to financial exposure for costs associated with an investigation and
remediation of sites at which it has arranged for the disposal
of hazardous wastes if these sites become contaminated. In the
event of a violation of environmental laws, the company could be
held liable for damages and for the costs of remedial actions.
Environmental laws could also become more stringent over time,
imposing greater compliance costs and increasing risks and
penalties associated with any violation, which could negatively
affect the company’s operating results.
THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE IS SUBJECT TO

AN INCREASE IN WARRANTY EXPENSES COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT

The company offers
purchasers of its products warranties covering workmanship and
materials typically for one year and, in certain circumstances, for
periods of up to ten years, during which period the company or
an authorized service representative will make repairs and replace
parts that have become defective in the course of normal use.
The company estimates and records its future warranty costs based
upon past experience. These warranty expenses may increase in the
future and may exceed the company’s warranty reserves, which, in
turn, could adversely affect the company’s financial performance.
THE COMPANY’S FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE.

SIGNIFICANT FLUCTUATIONS. The company’s financial performance
is subject to quarterly and annual fluctuations due to a number
of factors, including:

• the lengthy, unpredictable sales cycle for commercial
foodservice equipment;
• the gain or loss of significant customers;
• unexpected delays in new product introductions;
• the level of market acceptance of new or enhanced versions
of the company’s products;

THE COMPANY IS SUBJECT TO CURRENCY FLUCTUATIONS AND

• unexpected changes in the levels of the company’s
operating expenses;

OTHER RISKS FROM ITS OPERATIONS OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES.

• competitive product offerings and pricing actions; and

The company has manufacturing operations located in Asia
and distribution operations in Asia, Europe and Latin America.
The company’s operations are subject to the impact of economic
downturns, political instability and foreign trade restrictions,
which may adversely affect the company’s business, financial
condition and operating results. The company anticipates that
international sales will continue to account for a significant
portion of consolidated net sales in the foreseeable future. Some
sales by the company’s foreign operations are in local currency,
and an increase in the relative value of the U.S. dollar against such
currencies would lead to a reduction in consolidated sales and
earnings. Additionally, foreign currency exposures are not fully
hedged, and there can be no assurances that the company’s
future results of operations will not be adversely affected by
currency fluctuations.

• general economic conditions.

THE COMPANY IS SUBJECT TO POTENTIAL LIABILITY UNDER
ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS. The company’s operations are regulated
under a number of federal, state and local environmental laws and
regulations that govern, among other things, the discharge of
hazardous materials into the air and water as well as the handling,
storage and disposal of these materials. Compliance with these
environmental laws and regulations is a significant consideration
for the company because it uses hazardous materials in the
company manufacturing processes. In addition, because the
company is a generator of hazardous wastes, even if it fully

Each of these factors could result in a material and adverse
change in the company’s business, financial condition and results
of operations.
The
company has recently experienced rapid growth in business.
Continued growth could place a strain on the company’s
management, operations and financial resources. There also will
be additional demands on the company’s sales, marketing and
information systems and on the company’s administrative
infrastructure as it develops and offers additional products and
enters new markets. The company cannot be certain that the
company’s operating and financial control systems, administrative
infrastructure, outsourced and internal production capacity,
facilities and personnel will be adequate to support the company’s
future operations or to effectively adapt to future growth. If the
company cannot manage the company’s growth effectively, the
company’s business may be harmed.

THE COMPANY MAY BE UNABLE TO MANAGE ITS GROWTH.

THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS COULD SUFFER IN THE EVENT OF A

Because the
company has a significant number of workers whose employment
is subject to collective bargaining agreements and labor union
representation, the company is vulnerable to possible organized

WORK STOPPAGE BY ITS UNIONIZED LABOR FORCE.
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work stoppages and similar actions. Unionized employees
accounted for approximately 24% of the company’s workforce as
of December 31, 2005. At the company’s Lodi, Wisconsin facility
it has a union contract with the International Association of
Bridge, Structural, Ornamental and Reinforcing Iron Workers that
extends through January 2008. At the company’s Elgin, Illinois
facility, it has a union contract with the International Brotherhood
of Teamsters that extends through April 2007. The company
also has a union workforce at its manufacturing facility in the
Philippines under a contract that extends through June 2006.
Although the company believes that the current relationships
between employees, union and management are good, any future
strikes, employee slowdowns or similar actions by one or more
unions, in connection with labor contract negotiations or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on the company’s ability
to operate the company’s business.
THE COMPANY DEPENDS SIGNIFICANTLY ON ITS KEY PERSONNEL.

The company depends significantly on certain of the company’s
executive officers and certain other key personnel, many of whom
could be difficult to replace. While the company has employment
agreements with certain key executives, the company cannot be
certain that it will succeed in retaining this personnel or their
services under existing agreements. The incapacity, inability or
unwillingness of certain of these people to perform their services
may have a material adverse effect on the company. There is
intense competition for qualified personnel within the company’s
industry, and the company cannot assure you that it will be able
to continue to attract, motivate and retain personnel with the
skills and experience needed to successfully manage the company
business and operations.
THE IMPACT OF FUTURE TRANSACTIONS ON THE COMPANY’S
COMMON STOCK IS UNCERTAIN. The company periodically reviews
potential transactions related to products or product rights and
businesses complementary to the company’s business. Such
transactions could include mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures,
alliances or licensing agreements. In the future, the company
may choose to enter into such transactions at any time. The
impact of transactions on the market price of a company’s stock
is often uncertain, but it may cause substantial fluctuations to
the market price. Consequently, any announcement of any such
transaction could have a material adverse effect upon the market
price of the company’s common stock. Moreover, depending upon
the nature of any transaction, the company may experience a
charge to earnings, which could be material and could possibly
have an adverse impact upon the market price of the company’s
common stock.
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FUTURE SALES OR ISSUANCES OF EQUITY OR CONVERTIBLE
SECURITIES COULD DEPRESS THE MARKET PRICE OF THE
COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK AND BE DILUTIVE AND AFFECT THE
COMPANY’S ABILITY TO RAISE FUNDS THROUGH EQUITY ISSUANCES.

If the company’s stockholders sell substantial amounts of the
company’s common stock or the company issues substantial
additional amounts of the company’s equity securities, or there is
a belief that such sales or issuances could occur, the market price
of the company’s common stock could fall. These factors could
also make it more difficult for the company to raise funds through
future offerings of equity securities.
THE MARKET PRICE OF THE COMPANY’S COMMON STOCK MAY BE
SUBJECT TO SIGNIFICANT VOLATILITY. The market price of the
company’s common stock may be highly volatile because of
a number of factors, including the following:

• actual or anticipated fluctuations in the company’s operating
results;
• changes in expectations as to the company’s future financial
performance, including financial estimates by securities analysts
and investors;
• the operating performance and stock price of other companies
in the company’s industry;
• announcements by the company or the company’s competitors
of new products or significant contracts, acquisitions, joint
ventures or capital commitments;
• changes in interest rates;
• additions or departures of key personnel; and
• future sales or issuances of the company’s common stock.
In addition, the stock markets from time to time experience
price and volume fluctuations that may be unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies.
These broad fluctuations may adversely affect the trading price
of the company’s common stock, regardless of the company’s
operating performance.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting
a defined in Rules 13a-15(f ) and 15d –15(f ) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. Our internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of our assets.
(ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and
(iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting based on the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Our assessment of the internal control structure excluded
Nu-Vu Foodservice Systems which was acquired on January 7, 2005 and Alkar Holdings, Inc. which was acquired on
December 7, 2005. Nu-Vu Foodservice Systems and Alkar Holdings, Inc. had combined net sales of $18.8 million
and total assets of $56.0 million, which are included in the consolidated financial statements of the company as of
and for the year ended December 31, 2005. Under guidelines established by the Securities Exchange Commission,
companies are allowed to exclude acquisitions from their assessment of internal control over financial reporting during
the first year of an acquisition while integrating the acquired company.
Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control – Integrated Framework, our management
concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2005. Our management’s
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 has been
audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which
is included herein.
T H E M I D D L E B Y C O R P O R AT I O N
MARCH 15, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of The Middleby Corporation:

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting, that The Middleby Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”)] maintained effective internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the
company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of
the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial
reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2005, based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedules as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2005 of the Company and our report dated March 15, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those
financial statements and financial statement schedules.

D E LO I T T E & TO U C H E L L P
C H I C AG O, I L L I N O I S
MARCH 15, 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of The Middleby Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Middleby Corporation and subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and January 1 2005, and the related consolidated statements of income,
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005. Our audits
also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 8. These financial statements and
financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedules based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement
schedules, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present
fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005,
based on the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 15, 2006 expressed in an unqualified
opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting
and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

D E LO I T T E & TO U C H E L L P
C H I C AG O, I L L I N O I S
MARCH 15, 2006
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005
2005

(amounts in thousands, except share data)

2004

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

3,908

$

3,803

Accounts receivable, net

38,552

26,612

Inventories, net

40,989

32,772

4,513

2,008

Prepaid expenses and other
Prepaid taxes

3,354

9,952

Current deferred taxes

10,319

8,865

Total current assets

101,635

84,012

Property, plant and equipment, net

25,331

22,980

Goodwill

98,757

74,761

Other intangibles

35,498

26,300

2,697

1,622

$ 263,918

$ 209,675

$

$

Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt

13,780

10,480

Accounts payable

17,576

11,298

Accrued expenses

62,689

51,311

94,045

73,089

107,815

113,243

Long-term deferred tax liability

8,207

11,434

Other non-current liabilities

5,351

4,694

—

—

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; none issued
Common stock, $.01 par value; 11,751,219 and 11,402,044
shares issued in 2005 and 2004, respectively
Restricted stock
Paid-in capital
Treasury stock at cost; 3,856,344 in 2005 and 2004
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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117
(14,204)

114
(4,700)

79,291

60,446

(89,650)

(89,650)

73,540

41,362

(594)

(357)

48,500

7,215

$ 263,918

$ 209,675

Consolidated Statements of Earnings

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005,
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
2005

2004

2003

$ 316,668

$ 271,115

$ 242,200

195,015

168,487

156,347

121,653

102,628

85,853

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Selling and distribution expenses

33,772

30,496

29,609

General and administrative expenses

29,909

23,113

21,228

Stock repurchase transaction expenses

—

12,647

—

Acquisition integration reserve adjustments

—

(1,887)

—

Income from operations
Interest expense and deferred financing amortization, net

57,972

38,259

35,016
5,891

6,437

3,004

Debt extinguishment expenses

—

1,154

Gain on acquisition financing derivatives

—

Other expense, net
Earnings before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net earnings

—

(265)

(62)

137

522

366

51,398

33,844

28,821

19,220

10,256

10,123

$

32,178

$

23,588

$

Basic

$

Diluted

$

18,698

4.28

$

2.56

$

2.06

3.98

$

2.38

$

1.99

NET EARNINGS PER SHARE:

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES:

Basic
Diluted stock options
Diluted

7,514

9,200

9,065

579

731

327

8,093

9,931

9,392

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005,
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
(in thousands)

Common
Stock

BALANCE, DECEMBER 28, 2002

$ 110

Shareholder
Receivable

$ (200)

Restricted
Stock

Paid-in
Capital

—

$ 53,837

$

Treasury
Stock

$ (11,635)

(Accumulated
Deficit)
Retained
Earnings

$

5,073

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$ (2,553)

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

$ 44,632

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings

—

—

—

—

—

18,698

—

18,698

Currency translation adjustments

—

—

—

—

—

—

468

468

—

—

—

—

—

—

(621)

(621)

—

—

—

—

—

—

397

397

—

18,698

244

18,942

—

—

617

—

—

Increase in minimum pension liability,
net of tax of $380
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap,
net of tax of $118
Net comprehensive income

—

—

—

—

3

—

—

1,442

Loan forgiveness

—

200

—

—

—

Dividend payment

—

—

—

—

—

—

$ 55,279

Exercise of stock options

BALANCE, JANUARY 3, 2004

$ 113

$

—

$

(828)

$ (12,463)

(2,301)
$ 21,470

200

—
$ (2,309)

(2,301)
$ 62,090

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings

—

—

—

—

—

23,588

—

23,588

Currency translation adjustments

—

—

—

—

—

—

674

674

—

—

—

—

—

—

1,077

1,077

—

—

—

—

—

—

201

201

Net comprehensive income

—

—

—

—

—

23,588

1,952

25,540

Exercise of stock options

—

—

—

349

—

—

—

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

Decrease in minimum pension liability,
net of tax of $290
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap,
net of tax of $143

Restricted stock issuance

349
(77,187)

1

—

4,818

—

—

—

—

Stock compensation

—

—

119

—

—

—

—

119

Dividend payment

—

—

—

—

—

BALANCE, JANUARY 1, 2005

$ 114

$

—

(4,819)

(77,187)

$ (4,700)

$ 60,446

$ (89,650)

(3,696)
$ 41,362

—
$

(357)

(3,696)
$

7,215

Comprehensive income:
Net earnings

—

—

—

—

—

32,178

Currency translation adjustments

—

—

—

—

—

—

(687)

—

32,178
(687)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(255)

(255)

—

—

—

—

—

—

705

705

Increase in minimum pension liability,
net of tax of $(169)
Unrealized gain on interest rate swap,
net of tax of $522
Net comprehensive income

—

—

—

—

—

32,178

Exercise of stock options

—

—

—

977

—

—

—

Restricted stock issuance

3

—

12,811

—

—

—

—

Stock compensation

—

—

3,310

—

—

—

—

3,310

Tax benefit on stock compensation

—

—

—

5,057

—

—

—

5,057

BALANCE, JANUARY 1, 2005

$ 117

$

—

(12,814)

$ (14,204)

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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$ 79,291

$ (89,650)

$ 73,540

(237)

$

(594)

31,941
977

$ 48,500

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the fiscal years ended December 31, 2005,
January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004
2005

(in thousands)

2004

2003

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES -

Net earnings

$

32,178

$

23,588

$

18,698

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash
provided by operating activities Depreciation and amortization
Debt extinguishment
Deferred taxes

3,554

3,612

—

1,154

—

807

7,574

1,386

Non-cash adjustments to acquisition integration reserves

—

(1,887)

Unrealized gain on derivative financing instruments

—

(265)

3,990

—
(62)

Non-cash equity compensation

3,310

119

—

Unpaid interest on seller notes

—

—

567

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions
Accounts receivable, net

(3,608)

(2,980)

Inventories, net

(1,323)

(7,004)

Prepaid expenses and other assets

7,222

Accounts payable

536

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

(417)

Net cash provided by operating activities

4,792
2,136

(10,193)

(1,176)

(682)

(1,587)

5,486

1,046

42,259

18,522

29,790

(1,376)

(1,199)

(1,003)

(2,000)

(19,129)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES -

Additions to property and equipment
Acquisition of Blodgett

—

Acquisition of Nu-Vu

(11,450)

—

—

Acquisition of Alkar

(28,195)

—

—

Net cash (used in) investing activities

(41,021)

(3,199)

(20,132)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES -

Net (repayments) proceeds under previous revolving credit facilities

—

(1,500)

Net (repayments) proceeds under previous senior secured bank notes

—

(53,000)

Proceeds under current revolving credit facilities

4,985

Proceeds (repayments) under current senior secured bank notes

(10,000)

Proceeds (repayments) under foreign bank loan

3,200

Repayments under note agreement

51,265

—

70,000

—

—

(313)
—

(1,509)

Repurchase of treasury stock

—

(77,187)

Payment of special dividend

—

(3,696)

Net proceeds from stock issuances

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -

—
(2,301)

349

617

—

—

200
(14,384)

(15,278)

(51)

CASH ACQUIRED IN ACQUISITION

—
—

977

(1,151)

Net cash (used in) financing activities

(2,400)

—

Debt issuance costs

Shareholder loan

1,500
(12,000)

69

106

—

—

—

CHANGES IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS -

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

$

105

151

3,803

3,652

3,908

$

3,803

(4,726)
8,378
$

3,652

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Nature of Operations

The Middleby Corporation (the “company”) is engaged in the
design, manufacture and sale of commercial and industrial
foodservice equipment. The company manufactures and assembles
this equipment at six factories in the United States and one
factory in the Philippines.
The commercial foodservice equipment group manufactures
conveyor ovens, convection ovens, fryers, ranges, toasters, combi
ovens, steamers, broilers, deck ovens, baking ovens, proofers and
counter top cooking and warming equipment. End-user customers
include: (i) fast food or quick service restaurants, (ii) full service
restaurants, including casual theme restaurants, (iii) retail outlets,
such as convenience stores, supermarkets and department stores
and (iv) public and private institutions, such as hotels, resorts,
schools, hospitals, long term care facilities, correctional facilities,
stadiums, airports, corporate cafeterias, military facilities and
government agencies. Included in these customers are several large
multi national restaurant chains, which account for a significant
portion of the company’s business, although no single customer
accounts for more than 10% of net sales. The company’s domestic
sales are primarily through independent dealers and distributors
and are marketed by the company’s sales personnel and network
of independent manufacturers’ representatives.
The industrial foodservice equipment group manufactures
batch ovens, conveyor ovens, continuous cooking systems and
food packaging equipment. Customers include food processing
companies. Included in these companies are several large international food processing companies, which account for a significant
portion of the revenues of this business segment. The sales of
the business are made through its direct sales force.
The international distribution division provides sales,
technical service and distribution services for the commercial
foodservice industry. This division sells and support the products
manufactured by the company’s commercial foodservice
equipment business. This business operates through a combined
network of independent and company-owned distributors. The
company maintains regional sales offices in Asia, Europe and
Latin America complemented by sales and distribution offices in
Canada, China, India, South Korea, Mexico, the Philippines,
Spain, Taiwan and the United Kingdom.
The company purchases raw materials and component parts,
the majority of which are standard commodity type materials,
from a number of suppliers. Although certain component parts
are procured from a sole source, the company can purchase such
parts from alternate vendors.
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The company has numerous licenses and patents to
manufacture, use and sell its products and equipment. Management
believes the loss of any one of these licenses or patents would
not have a material adverse effect on the financial and operating
results of the company.
(2) Purchase Accounting
NU-VU

On January 7, 2005, Middleby Marshall Holdings, LLC, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the company, completed its acquisition of the assets of Nu-Vu Foodservice Systems (“Nu-Vu”), a
leading manufacturer of baking ovens, from Win-Holt Equipment
Corporation (“Win-Holt”) for $12.0 million in cash. In September
2005, the company reached final settlement with Win-Holt on
post-closing adjustments pertaining to the acquisition of Nu-Vu.
As a result, the final purchase price was reduced by $550,000.
The company has accounted for this business combination
using the purchase method to record a new cost basis for the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The difference between
the purchase price and the fair value of the assets acquired
and liabilities assumed has been recorded as goodwill in the
December 31, 2005 financial statements.
The allocation of cash paid for the Nu-Vu acquisition as of
December 31, 2005 is summarized as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

Jan. 7, 2005

Adjustments

Current assets

$

$

2,556

242

Dec. 31, 2005

$

2,798

Property, plant,
and equipment

1,178

—

1,178

Deferred taxes

3,637

(336)

3,301

Goodwill

4,566

252

4,818

Other intangibles

2,188

(875)

1,313

Current liabilities

(2,125)

167

(1,958)

Total cash paid

$ 12,000

$

(550)

$ 11,450

The goodwill and other intangible assets associated with
the Nu-Vu acquisition, which are comprised of the tradename,
are subject to the non-amortization provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets,” and are allocable to the company’s
Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group for purposes of
segment reporting (see footnote 12 for further discussion). Goodwill
and other intangible assets associated with this transaction are
anticipated to be deductible for income taxes.

ALKAR

On December 7, 2005 the company acquired the stock of Alkar
Holdings, Inc. (“Alkar”) for $26.7 million in cash. Cash paid at
closing amounted to $28.2 million and included $1.5 million of
estimated working capital adjustments determined at closing.
The purchase price is subject to final settlement of the post-close
working capital adjustments, which the company estimates will
result in an additional payment of $1.5 million to be paid in
fiscal 2006.
The company has accounted for this business combination
using the purchase method to record a new cost basis for the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The difference between
the purchase price and the fair value of the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed has been recorded as goodwill in the
December 31, 2005 financial statements. The allocation of the
purchase price to the assets, liabilities and intangible assets is
under review and is subject to change based upon the results of
further evaluation.
The allocation of cash paid for the Alkar acquisition as of
December 31, 2005 is summarized as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

Current assets

December 7, 2005

$

Property, plant, and equipment

3,032

Goodwill

19,177

Other intangibles

7,960

Current liabilities

(16,003)

Long-term deferred tax liability
Total cash paid

17,160

(3,131)
$

28,195

The goodwill and $5.0 million of trademarks included in
other intangibles are subject to the nonamortization provisions
of SFAS No. 142 from the date of acquisition. Other intangibles
also includes $2.1 million allocated to customer relationships,
$0.6 million allocated to backlog, and $0.3 million allocated to
developed technology which are amortized over periods of 10 years,
7 months, and 14 years respectively. Goodwill and other
intangibles of Alkar are allocated to the Industrial Foodservice
Equipment Group for segment reporting purposes. These assets
are not deductible for tax purposes.
(3) Stock Repurchase Transaction

On December 23, 2004 the company repurchased 1,808,774
shares of its common stock and 271,000 options from William F.
Whitman, Jr., the former chairman of the company’s board of
directors, members of his family and trusts controlled by his family
(collectively, the “Whitmans”) in a private transaction for a total
aggregate purchase price of $83,974,578 in cash. The repurchased

shares represented 19.6% of the company’s outstanding shares and
were repurchased for $75,968,508 at $42.00 per share which
represented a 12.8% discount to the closing market price of $48.19
of the company’s common stock on December 23, 2004 and a
21.7% discount from the $53.64 average closing price over the
thirty trading days prior to the repurchase. The company incurred
$1.2 million of transaction costs associated with the repurchase
of these shares. The 271,000 stock options were purchased for
$8,006,070, which represented the difference between $42.00 and
the exercise price of the option. In conjunction with the stock
repurchase, the Whitmans resigned as directors of the company.
The company financed the share repurchase with borrowings
under its senior bank facility that was established in connection
with this transaction.
In conjunction with the transaction the company recorded
$13.8 million of expenses, which were comprised of the
following items:
(dollars in thousands)

Compensation related expense

$

8,225

Pension settlement

1,947

Financial advisor fees

1,899

Other professional fees
Subtotal
Debt extinguishment costs
Total

576
12,647
1,154
$ 13,801

The $8.2 million in compensation expense includes the
value of the 271,000 repurchased stock options along with the
employer portion of related payroll taxes.
In February 2005, the company settled all pension obligations
associated with William F. Whitman, Jr., the former chairman
of the company’s board of directors for $7.5 million in cash. In
conjunction with this transaction, the company recorded $1.9
million in settlement costs representing the difference between the
settlement amount and the accrued pension liability at the time
of the transaction.
Debt extinguishment costs of $1.2 million represent the
write-off of deferred financing costs pertaining to the company’s
prior financing agreements which were paid prior to the maturity
of the agreement utilizing funds under the company’s new
senior debt agreement completed in order to finance the stock
repurchase transaction.
(4) Summary Of Significant Accounting Policies

The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of the company and its wholly owned

(A) BASIS OF PRESENTATION
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subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. The company’s consolidated
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
The preparation of these financial statements requires the
company to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as
well as related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, the company
evaluates its estimates and judgments based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these
estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
The company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest
December 31. Fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003 ended on
December 31, 2005, January 1, 2005 and January 3, 2004,
respectively, and each included 52, 52 and 53 weeks, respectively.
(B) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS The company considers all
short-term investments with original maturities of three months
or less when acquired to be cash equivalents. The company’s
policy is to invest its excess cash in U.S. Government securities,
interest-bearing deposits with major banks, municipal notes
and bonds and commercial paper of companies with strong credit
ratings that are subject to minimal credit and market risk.

Accounts receivable, as shown in the
consolidated balance sheets, are net of allowances for doubtful
accounts of $3,081,000 and $3,382,000 at December 31, 2005
and January 1, 2005, respectively.

(C) ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

(D) INVENTORIES Inventories are composed of material, labor
and overhead and are stated at the lower of cost or market. Costs
for inventories at two of the company’s manufacturing facilities
have been determined using the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”)
method. These inventories under the LIFO method amounted to
$15.4 million in 2005 and $14.4 million in 2004 and represented
approximately 38% and 44% of the total inventory in each
respective year. Costs for all other inventory have been determined
using the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) method. The company
estimates reserves for inventory obsolescence and shrinkage based
on its judgment of future realization. Inventories at December 31,
2005 and January 1, 2005 are as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

Raw materials and parts
Work in process
Finished goods

LIFO reserve
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2004

2005
$ 11,311

$

7,091

6,792

5,492

22,654

19,971

40,757

32,554

232

218

$ 40,989

$ 32,772

(E) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT Property, plant and
equipment are carried at cost as follows:

Land
Building and improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment

Less accumulated depreciation

2004

2005

(dollars in thousands)

$

5,047
20,365

$

4,925
18,277

9,234

8,765

24,746

22,204

59,392

54,171

(34,061)

(31,191)

$ 25,331

$ 22,980

Property and equipment are depreciated or amortized on
a straight-line basis over their useful lives based on management’s
estimates of the period over which the assets will be utilized to
benefit the operations of the company. The useful lives are estimated
based on historical experience with similar assets, taking into
account anticipated technological or other changes. The company
periodically reviews these lives relative to physical factors,
economic factors and industry trends. If there are changes in the
planned use of property and equipment or if technological
changes were to occur more rapidly than anticipated, the useful
lives assigned to these assets may need to be shortened, resulting
in the recognition of increased depreciation and amortization
expense in future periods.
Following is a summary of the estimated useful lives:
Description

Life

Building and improvements
Furniture and fixtures
Machinery and equipment

20 to 40 years
5 to 7 years
3 to 10 years

Depreciation expense is provided for using the straight line
method and amounted to $3,235,000, $3,150,000 and $3,583,000
in fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
Expenditures which significantly extend useful lives are
capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as
incurred. Asset impairments are recorded whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the recorded value of an
asset is less than the sum of its expected future undiscounted
cash flows.
(F) GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLES Goodwill and other
intangibles are reviewed for impairment annually or whenever
events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset
may not be recoverable. For long-lived assets held for use, an
impairment loss is recognized when the estimated undiscounted
cash flows produced by an asset are less than the asset’s carrying
value. Estimates of future cash flows are judgments based on the
company’s experience and knowledge of operations. These estimates
can be significantly impacted by many factors including changes

in global and local business and economic conditions, operating
costs, inflation, competition, and consumer and demographic
trends. If the company’s estimates or the underlying assumptions
change in the future, the company may be required to record
impairment charges.
Intangible assets consist of the following (dollars in thousands):

Amortized intangible assets:

Estimated
Life

Accumulated
Amortization

10 years

Backlog

7 months

600

(60)

7 years

260

(2)

$

2,100

$

(12)

2,060

$

(74)

$ 32,612

$

—

Unamortized intangible assets:

Trademarks and tradenames

January 1, 2005

Amortized intangible assets:

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Estimated
Life

$

Accumulated
Amortization

Customer lists

—

Backlog

—

—

—

Developed technology

—

—

—

$

—

$

—

—

$

—

$ 26,300

$

—

Unamortized intangible assets:

Trademarks and tradenames

The aggregate intangible amortization expense was $0.1
million in 2005. There was no intangible amortization expense
in 2004 and 2003. The estimated future amortization expense
of intangible assets is as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

2006

2004
$ 12,493

Accrued warranty

11,286

10,563

Accrued customer rebates

10,740

9,350

Accrued pension settlement

Customer lists
Developed technology

$

2005
$ 15,577

(dollars in thousands)

Accrued payroll and related expenses

Advanced customer deposits

December 31, 2005
Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accrued expenses consist of the following
at December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, respectively:
(G) ACCRUED EXPENSES

$

2007

Accrued product liability and workers comp

6,204

335

—

3,637

2,418

1,828

16,464

13,440

$ 62,689

$ 51,311

Other accrued expenses

From time to time, the company is
subject to proceedings, lawsuits and other claims related to
products, suppliers, employees, customers and competitors. The
company maintains insurance to cover product liability, workers
compensation, property and casualty, and general liability matters.
The company is required to assess the likelihood of any adverse
judgments or outcomes to these matters as well as potential ranges
of probable losses. A determination of the amount of accrual
required, if any, for these contingencies is made after assessment
of each matter and the related insurance coverage. The required
accrual may change in the future due to new developments or
changes in approach such as a change in settlement strategy in
dealing with these matters. The company does not believe that
any such matter will have a material adverse effect on its financial
condition, results of operations or cash flows of the company.

(H) LITIGATION MATTERS

The following table summarizes
the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss as
reported in the consolidated balance sheets:

(I) OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2005

(dollars in thousands)

Minimum pension liability

$ (1,259)

Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swap

743

Currency translation adjustments

(78)

787

$

(594)

2004
$ (1,004)
38
609
$

(357)

247

2008

247

2009

247

2010

247

Thereafter

1,111
$

2,886

Due to their shortterm nature, the carrying value of the company’s cash and cash
equivalents and receivables approximate fair value. The value of
long-term debt, which is disclosed in Note 5, approximates fair
value. The company’s derivative instruments are based on market
prices when available or are derived from financial valuation
methodologies.

(J) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign currency transactions are
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 52 “Foreign Currency
Translation.” Assets and liabilities of the company’s foreign operations are translated at exchange rates at the balance sheet date.

(K) FOREIGN CURRENCY
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These translation adjustments are not included in determining
net income for the period but are disclosed and accumulated in a
separate component of stockholders’ equity. Exchange gains and
losses on foreign currency transactions are included in determining
net income for the period in which they occur. These transactions
amounted to a gain of $0.7 million in fiscal 2005 and a loss of
$0.6 million in fiscal 2004 and 2003.
(L) REVENUE RECOGNITION The company recognizes revenue on
the sale of its products when risk of loss has passed to the
customer, which occurs at the time of shipment, and collectibility
is reasonably assured. The sale prices of the products sold are fixed
and determinable at the time of shipment. Sales are reported net
of sales returns, sales incentives and cash discounts based on prior
experience and other quantitative and qualitative factors.
At the industrial foodservice equipment group, the company
enters into long-term sales contracts for certain products. Revenue
under these long-term sales contracts is recognized using the
percentage of completion method prescribed by Statement of
Position No. 81-1 due to the length of time to fully manufacture
and assemble the equipment. The company measures revenue
recognized based on the ratio of actual labor hours incurred in
relation to the total estimated labor hours to be incurred related
to the contract. The percentage of completion method of
accounting for these contracts most accurately reflects the status
of these uncompleted contracts in the company’s financial statements and most accurately measures the matching of revenues
with expenses. At the time a loss on a contract becomes known,
the amount of the estimated loss is recognized in the consolidated
financial statements.

In the normal course of business the
company issues product warranties for specific product lines and
provides for the estimated future warranty cost in the period in
which the sale is recorded. The estimate of warranty cost is based
on contract terms and historical warranty loss experience that is
periodically adjusted for recent actual experience. Because warranty
estimates are forecasts that are based on the best available information, claims costs may differ from amounts provided. Adjustments
to initial obligations for warranties are made as changes in the
obligations become reasonably estimable.
A rollforward of the warranty reserve is as follows:

(M) WARRANTY COSTS

(dollars in thousands)

Beginning balance
Warranty expense
Warranty claims
Ending balance
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2005

2004

$ 10,563

$ 11,563

8,916

8,417

(8,193)

(9,417)

$ 11,286

$ 10,563

Research and development
costs, included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of
earnings, are charged to expense when incurred. These costs were
$2,767,000, $2,537,000 and $2,390,000 in fiscal 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively.

(N) RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

(O) STOCK BASED COMPENSATION The company maintains various
stock based employee compensation plans, which are more
fully described in Note 6. The company has issued restricted
stock grants and stock options under these plans to certain key
employees and members of its Board of Directors. As permitted
under SFAS No 123: “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”,
the company has elected to follow APB Opinion No. 25:
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” in accounting for
stock-based awards to employees and directors.
In accordance with APB No. 25, the company establishes the
value of restricted stock grants based upon the market value of
the stock at the time of issuance. The value of the restricted stock
grants is reflected as a separate component reducing shareholders’
equity with an offsetting increase to Paid-in Capital. The value
of the stock grant is amortized and recorded as compensation
expense over the applicable vesting period. The company issued
restricted stock grants amounting to $12.8 million in 2005 and
$4.8 million in 2004. The compensation expense of $3.3 million
and $0.1 million has been recorded related to the amortization
of these stock grants in 2005 and 2004, respectively.
In accordance with APB No. 25, the company has not
recorded compensation expense related to issued stock options
in the financial statements for all periods presented because the
exercise price of the stock options is equal to or greater than the
market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Pro
forma information regarding net earnings and earnings per share
is required by SFAS No. 123. This information is required to be
determined as if the company had accounted for its employee
and director stock options granted subsequent to December 31,
1994 under the fair value method of that statement. The weighted
average estimated fair value of stock options granted in fiscal
2005 was $19.11 per share and in fiscal 2003 was $8.35 per share.
The fair value of options issued in 2005 has been estimated at the
rate of grant using a bi-nomial valuation model with the following
general assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 3.94%; an expected
life of 4.5 years; an expected volatility of 40%; and no expected
dividend yield. There were no options issued in 2004. The fair
value of options issued in 2003 has been estimated at the date of
grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following general assumptions: risk-free interest rate of 2.7% to
2.9%; expected lives of 4 to 6 years, expected volatility of 55%
to 65% and no expected dividend yield.

Option valuation models require the input of highly
subjective assumptions. Because the company’s options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options
and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can
materially affect the fair value estimate, in the opinion of
management, the existing models do not necessarily provide
a reliable single measure of the fair value of its options.
For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair
value of the options is amortized to expense over the options’
vesting period. The stock-based employee compensation expense,
net of taxes, for fiscal year 2003 previously disclosed as $583,000
has been corrected to reflect the portion of a 2003 grant that
vested immediately in 2003. The company’s pro forma net
earnings and per share data utilizing a fair value based method
is as follows:
(dollars in thousands,
except per share data)

Net income – as reported

2005

2004

2003

$ 32,178

$ 23,588

$ 18,698

683

442

3,574

$ 31,495

$ 23,146

$ 15,124

$

$

Less: Stock-based employee
compensation expense,
net of taxes
Net income – pro forma

Earnings per share – as reported:
Basic

$

Diluted

4.28
3.98

2.56
2.38

2.06
1.99

Earnings per share – pro forma:
Basic
Diluted

$

4.19
3.89

$

2.52
2.33

$

1.67
1.61

(P) EARNINGS PER SHARE In accordance with SFAS No. 128
“Earnings Per Share”, “basic earnings per share” is calculated
based upon the weighted average number of common shares
actually outstanding, and “diluted earnings per share” is calculated
based upon the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding, warrants and other dilutive securities.
The company’s potentially dilutive securities consist of shares
issuable on exercise of outstanding options computed using the
treasury method and amounted to 579,000, 731,000 and 327,000
for fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
(Q) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS Cash paid for
interest was $6,006,000, $2,627,000 and $4,532,000 in fiscal
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Cash payments totaling
$16,328,000, $16,890,000 and $8,349,000 were made for income
taxes during fiscal 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
In 2005 net income included $3,310,000 of non cash pretax
expense related to restricted stock grants (see note 6). In 2004, net
income included in the cash flows from operations had a non-cash
expense of $1,154,000 pretax related to the early extinguishment
of debt (see Note 3), $118,000 pretax related to a restricted

stock grant (see Note 6) and $1,887,000 related to acquisition
integration reserve adjustments (see Note 10). In 2003, net
income included in the cash flows from operations had a non-cash
expense $567,000 pretax related to an increase in the principal
balance of debt associated with interest paid in kind. These
non-cash items have been added back as adjustments to reconcile
net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities.
In November 2004, the
FASB issued SFAS No. 151, “Inventory Costs – an amendment
of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4”. This statement amends the guidance
in ARB No. 43, Chapter 4 to clarify the accounting for abnormal
amounts of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and wasted
material. This statement requires that these items be recognized
as current period costs and also requires that allocation of fixed
production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the
normal capacity of the production facilities. This statement is
effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning
after June 15, 2005. The company will apply this guidance
prospectively. The company is in the process of determining what
impact the application of this guidance will have on the company’s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In December 2004, FASB issued a revision to SFAS No. 123
“Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”. SFAS No. 123(R)
“Share-Based Payment” requires all new, modified, and unvested
share-based payments to employees to be recognized in the
financial statements as compensation cost over the service period
based upon their fair value on the date of grant. This statement
eliminates the alternative of accounting for share-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. The
statement is effective as of the beginning of the first interim or
annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. The
company will adopt SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006 under
the modified retrospective application transition method. As such,
the prior year comparative results will be adjusted to recognize
the compensation cost currently reported in the stock based
compensation pro forma footnote disclosure (see Note 4(o)) in
the consolidated financial statements issued after January 1, 2006.
Accordingly, the adoption of SFAS No. 123 will result in a
reduction to net earnings by $683,000, or $0.09 per share for
2005 and $442,000 or $0.05 per share for 2004 in the consolidated financial statements issued after January 1, 2006.
In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounting
Changes and Error Corrections – a replacement of APB Opinion
No. 20 and FASB Statement No. 3”. This statement replaces
ABP Opinion No. 20, Accounting Changes and FASB Statement
No. 3, Reporting Changes in Interim Financial Statements and
changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of
a change in accounting principles. This statement applies to all
voluntary changes in accounting principles. This statement is
(R) NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
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effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made
in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. The company
will apply this guidance prospectively.
(5) Financing Arrangements

The following is a summary of long-term debt at December 31,
2005 and January 1, 2005:
(dollars in thousands)

Senior secured revolving credit line
Senior secured bank term loans

2005

2004

$ 56,250

$ 51,265

60,000

70,000

Foreign loan

3,200

—

Other note

2,145

2,458

$ 121,595

$ 123,723

Total debt
Less current maturities of
long-term debt

13,780

10,480

Long-term debt

$ 107,815

$ 113,243

During the fourth quarter of 2005, the company amended
its senior secured credit facility. Terms of the agreement provide
for $60.0 million of term loans and $130.0 million of availability
under a revolving credit line. As of December 31, 2005, the
company had $116.3 million outstanding under this facility,
including $56.3 million of borrowings under the revolving credit
line. The company also had $8.5 million in outstanding letters of
credit, which reduced the borrowing availability under the
revolving credit line.
Borrowings under the senior secured credit facility are
assessed at an interest rate of 1.25% above LIBOR for long-term
borrowings or at the higher of the Prime rate and the Federal
Funds Rate for short term borrowings. At December 31, 2005 the
average interest rate on the senior debt amounted to 5.7%. The
interest rates on borrowings under the senior bank facility may be
adjusted quarterly based on the company’s defined indebtedness
ratio on a rolling four-quarter basis. Additionally, a commitment
fee, based upon the indebtedness ratio is charged on the unused
portion of the revolving credit line. This variable commitment fee
amounted to 0.25% as of December 31, 2005.
In December 2005, the company entered into a $3.2 million
U.S. Dollar secured term loan at its subsidiary in Spain. This loan
amortizes in equal monthly installments over a four year period
ending December 31, 2009. Borrowings under this facility are
assessed at an interest rate of 0.45% above LIBOR. At December 31,
2005 the interest rate was 4.83%.
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In November 2004, the company entered into a promissory
note in conjunction with the release and early termination of
obligations under a lease agreement relative to a manufacturing
facility in Shelburne, Vermont. The remaining note of $2.1
million is assessed interest at 4.0% above LIBOR with an interest
rate cap of 9.0%. At year-end the interest rate on the note was
approximately 8.3%. The note amortizes monthly and matures
in December 2009.
The company has historically entered into interest rate swap
agreements to effectively fix the interest rate on its outstanding
debt. In January 2002, the company had entered into an interest
rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $20.0 million.
This agreement swapped one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of
4.03% and was in effect through December 2004. In February
2003, the company entered into an interest rate swap agreement
for a notional amount of $10.0 million. This agreement swapped
one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 2.36% and was in effect
through December 2005. In January 2005, the company entered
into an interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of
$70.0 million. This agreement swaps one-month LIBOR for a
fixed rate of 3.78%. The notional amount amortizes consistent
with the repayment schedule of the company’s term loan maturing
November 2009. The unamortized amount of this swap was
$60.0 million at December 31, 2005. In January 2006, subsequent to the fiscal 2005 year end, the company entered into an
interest rate swap agreement for a notional amount of $10.0
million maturing on December 21, 2009. This agreement swaps
one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 5.03%.
The terms of the senior secured credit facility limit the
paying of dividends, capital expenditures and leases, and require,
among other things, certain ratios of indebtedness and fixed
charge coverage. The credit agreement also provides that if a
material adverse change in the company’s business operations or
conditions occurs, the lender could declare an event of default.
Under terms of the agreement a material adverse effect is defined
as (a) a material adverse change in, or a material adverse effect
upon, the operations, business properties, condition (financial
and otherwise) or prospects of the company and its subsidiaries
taken as a whole; (b) a material impairment of the ability of the
company to perform under the loan agreements and to avoid any
event of default; or (c) a material adverse effect upon the legality,
validity, binding effect or enforceability against the company of
any loan document. A material adverse effect is determined on
a subjective basis by the company’s creditors. At December 31,
2005, the company was in compliance with all covenants pursuant
to its borrowing agreements.

The aggregate amount of debt payable during each of the
next five years is as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

2006

$ 13,780

2007

16,280

2008

16,280

2009

75,255
$ 121,595

As of January 1, 2005, the company had $121.3 million
outstanding under this facility, including $51.3 million of
borrowings under the revolving credit line. The company also had
$3.9 million in outstanding letters of credit at January 1, 2005.
At January 1, 2005 the average interest rate on the senior debt
amounted to 5.14 %.
As of January 1, 2005 the company had $2.5 million in
notes outstanding in conjunction with the release and early
termination of obligations under a lease agreement. At January 1,
2005 the interest rate on the note was approximately 6.4%.
(6) Common And Preferred Stock

At December 31, 2005
and January 1, 2005, the company had 20,000,000 shares of
common stock and 2,000,000 shares of Non-voting Preferred
Stock authorized. At December 31, 2005, there were 7,894,875
common stock shares outstanding.

The company maintains a 1998
Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), as amended on December 15,
2003, under which the company’s Board of Directors issues stock
options and stock grants to key employees. A maximum amount
of 1,750,000 shares can be issued under the Plan. Stock options
issued under the plan provide key employees with rights to
purchase shares of common stock at specified exercise prices.
Options may be exercised upon certain vesting requirements being
met, but expire to the extent unexercised within a maximum of
ten years from the date of grant. Stock grants are issued to
employees are transferable upon certain vesting requirements
being met. As of December 31, 2005, a total of 1,231,160 stock
options have been issued under the plan of which 495,135 have
been exercised and 736,025 remain outstanding. As of December 31,
2005, a total of 350,000 restricted stock grants have been issued
of which all are unvested. In addition to shares under the 1998
Stock Incentive Plan, certain directors of the company have
outstanding stock options. As of December 31, 2005, there were
6,000 shares outstanding, all of which are vested.
A summary of stock option activity is presented below:
(C) STOCK OPTIONS AND GRANTS

Stock Option
Activity

Employees

Directors

558,125

81,000

665,100
(213,625)
(14,100)

31,500
(15,000)
—

Outstanding at
January 3, 2004

995,500

97,500

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Repurchased

—
(32,023)
(15,277)
(250,000)

—
(13,000)
(7,500)
(21,000)

Outstanding at
January 1, 2005

698,200

56,000

100,000
(49,175)
(13,000)

—
(50,000)
—

Option Price
Per Share

(A) SHARES AUTHORIZED AND ISSUED

(B) TREASURY STOCK In July 1998, the company’s Board of
Directors adopted a stock repurchase program and during 1998
authorized the purchase of up to 1,800,000 common shares in
open market purchases. As of December 31, 2005, 952,999 shares
had been purchased under the 1998 stock repurchase program.
In October 2000, the company’s Board of Directors approved
a self tender offer that authorized the purchase of up
to 1,500,000 common shares from existing stockholders at a per
share price of $7.00. On November 22, 2000 the company
announced that 1,135,359 shares were accepted for payment
pursuant to the tender offer for $7.9 million.
On December 23, 2004, the company repurchased
1,808,774 shares at a $42.00 per share of its common stock from
the chairman of the company’s board of directors, members of
his family and trusts controlled by his family upon his retirement
from the company. The aggregate cost of the stock repurchase
including transaction related costs was $77.2 million.
At December 31, 2005, the company had a total of 3,856,344
shares in treasury amounting to $89.7 million.

Outstanding at
Dec. 28, 2002
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Outstanding at
Dec. 31, 2005
Weighted
average price
Exercisable at
Dec. 31, 2005
Weighted
average price

736,025

6,000

$19.25

$10.51

515,245

6,000

$15.23

$10.51

$10.51 to $18.47
$4.50 to $10.51
$5.90 to $10.51

$4.50 to $18.47
$4.50 to $18.47
$5.90 to $10.51

$5.25 to $18.47
$5.90 to $18.47
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In fiscal 2005, the weighted average price of shares exercised
and forfeited under the employee stock plan was $9.78 and
$10.22, respectively. In fiscal 2005, the weighted average price of
shares exercised under the director stock plan was $7.86.
The following summarizes the options outstanding and
exercisable for the employee stock plan by exercise price, at
December 31, 2005:
Exercise
Price

Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

Options
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining Life

2005
U.S. federal statutory tax rate

differences
State taxes, net of federal benefit

115,200

6.16

7.18

29,320

7.18

Consolidated effective tax

7.82

370,725

7.82

100,000

9.17

—

9.17

736,025

7.50

515,245

7.43

6,000

2.18

6,000

2.18

6.16

$10.51

73,300

$18.47

370,725

$53.93

2003

35.0%

35.0%

35.0%

(1.3)

(0.9)

—

4.9

5.9

4.9

U.S. taxes on foreign earnings

Reserve adjustments and other

192,000

2004

Permanent book vs. tax

and foreign tax rate differentials

Employee plan
$5.90

Reconciliation of the differences between income taxes
computed at the federal statutory rate to the effective rate are as
follows:

1.8

(0.2)

(1.7)

(3.0)

(9.5)

(3.1)

37.4%

30.3%

35.1%

At December 31, 2005 and January 1, 2005, the company
had recorded the following deferred tax assets and liabilities, which
were comprised of the following:

Director plan
$10.51

6,000

2.18

6,000

2.18

Stock compensation
Warranty reserves

(7) Income Taxes

Earnings before taxes is summarized as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

Domestic
Foreign
Total

2005

2004

2003

$ 45,603

$ 31,712

$ 26,928

5,795

2,132

1,893

$ 51,398

$ 33,844

$ 28,821

The provision (benefit) for income taxes is summarized
as follows:
(dollars in thousands)

Federal

2005
$ 14,470

2004
$

7,126

$

7,661

State and local

3,663

2,467

2,282

Foreign

1,087

663

180

Total

$ 19,220

$ 10,256

$ 10,123

Current

$ 18,413

$

$ 11,011

Deferred
Total

2,682

807

7,574

$ 19,220

$ 10,256

(888)
$ 10,123
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$

5,057
4,329

$

—
3,959

2,244

2,110

Accrued retirement benefits

1,526

1,110

Receivable related reserves

1,340

1,189

Accrued plant closure

1,177

1,128

Product liability reserves

665

490

Unicap

346

259

Other

659

816

17,343

11,061

—

—

$ 17,343

$ 11,061

$ (10,595)

$ (10,651)

(3,364)

(2,973)

Valuation allowance
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangible assets
Depreciation
Foreign tax earnings repatriation

(776)

—

Interest rate swap

(496)

—

LIFO reserves
Deferred tax liabilities
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2004

Inventory reserves

Gross deferred tax assets
2003

2005

(dollars in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

—
$ (15,231)

(6)
$ (13,630)

The company’s financial statements include amounts
recorded for contingent tax liabilities with respect to loss
contingencies that are deemed probable of occurrence. As those
contingencies are resolved, whether by audit or the closing of a
tax year, the company adjusts tax expense to reflect the expected
resolution. The tax provision includes a benefit of $1.3 million
and $3.2 million in 2005 and 2004 related to the release of tax
reserves for closed tax years.
Pursuant to The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004
(The Act) enacted on October 22, 2004, the company evaluated
provisions relating the repatriation of certain foreign earnings and
their impact on the company. The Act provides for a special
one-time tax deduction of 85 percent of certain foreign earnings
that are repatriated, as defined in the Act. The company elected
to apply this provision in 2005 and repatriated $4.7 million in
earnings from its subsidiaries in Spain and Mexico. Additionally,
the company has assessed the liability for unremitted foreign
earnings anticipated to be remitted in future periods. On
December 21, 2004, FASB Staff Position FAS 109-2, “Accounting
and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation
Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004”, was
issued. In accordance with FAS 109-2, the company recorded
provisions for taxes on foreign earnings in its 2005 financial
statements in the amount of $1.2 million.
(8) Financial Instruments

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. SFAS No. 133,
as amended, establishes accounting and reporting standards for
derivative instruments. The statement requires an entity to recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities and measure those
instruments at fair value. Derivatives that do not qualify as a
hedge must be adjusted to fair value in earnings. If the derivative
does qualify as a hedge under SFAS No. 133, changes in the fair
value will either be offset against the change in fair value of the
hedged assets, liabilities or firm commitments or recognized in
other accumulated comprehensive income until the hedged item
is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a hedge’s
change in fair value will be immediately recognized in earnings.
The company has entered into derivative
instruments, principally forward contracts to reduce exposures
pertaining to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. The fair value
of these forward contracts was approximately $(0.2) million at
the end of the year.
(A) FOREIGN EXCHANGE

(B) INTEREST RATE SWAP In January 2002, the company entered
into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of
$20.0 million to fix the interest rate applicable to certain of its

variable rate debt. The agreement swapped one-month LIBOR for
a fixed rate of 4.03% and was in effect through December 2004.
In February 2003, the company entered into an interest rate
swap agreement with a notational amount of $10.0 million to
fix the interest rate applicable to certain of its variable rate debt.
The agreement swaps one month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 2.36%
and is in effect through December 2005. The interest rate swap
has been designated as a hedge, and in accordance with SFAS
No. 133 the changes in the fair value are recorded as a component
of accumulated comprehensive income. The change in the fair
value of the swap during 2005 was less than $0.1 million.
In January 2005, the company entered into an interest rate
swap agreement with a notional amount of $70.0 million. The
agreement swaps one month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 3.78%.
The notional amount of the swap amortizes consistent with the
repayment schedule of the company’s senior term loan maturing
in November 2009. The interest rate swap has been designated
as a hedge, and in accordance with SFAS No. 133 the changes
in the fair value are recorded as a component of accumulated
comprehensive income. The change in the fair value of the swap
during 2005 was a gain of $0.7 million.
In January 2006, subsequent to the fiscal 2005 year end,
the company entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a
notional amount of $10.0 million maturing on December 21,
2009. This agreement swaps one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate
of 5.03%.
(9) Lease Commitments

The company leases warehouse space, office facilities and
equipment under operating leases, which expire in fiscal 2004 and
thereafter. The company also has a lease obligation for a manufacturing facility that was exited in conjunction with manufacturing
consolidation efforts related to the acquisition of Blodgett. Future
payment obligations under these leases are as follows:
Operating
Leases

(dollars in thousands)

2006

$

908

Idle Facility
Lease

$

303

Total Lease
Commitments

$

1,211

2007

377

331

708

2008

303

336

639

2009

191

356

547

2010 and thereafter

281

2,441

2,722

$

2,060

$

3,767

$

5,827

Rental expense pertaining to the operating leases was $0.8
million, $0.7 million, and $0.6 million in fiscal 2005, 2004, and
2003, respectively. Reserves of $2.6 million have been established
for the idle facility leases, net of anticipated sublease income (see
Note 10 for further discussion).
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(10) Acquisition Integration Costs

In fiscal 2001, the company established reserves through purchase
accounting associated with $3.9 million in severance related obligations and $6.9 million in facility exit costs related to the
business operations that were acquired from Maytag Corporation
on December 21, 2001 of Blodgett.
The company established reserves of $6.9 million associated
with the facility closure and lease obligations for manufacturing
facilities in Pennsylvania and Vermont that were exited in 2001
and 2002. These reserves were subsequently increased in 2002 by
$3.4 million through purchase accounting due to changes in the
assumptions related to the timing and amount of sublease income
expected to be realized, resulting in an increase in goodwill. The
facility in Quakertown, Pennsylvania was exited in 2001 prior to
the acquisition of Blodgett. The lease extends on this facility
through December 2014. The company is recovering a portion of
the lease cost on a sublease that ends in April 2006. Two other
facilities in Williston, Vermont and Shelburne, Vermont were
exited during the second quarter of 2002 in conjunction with the
company’s consolidation initiatives following the Blodgett acquisition. Lease obligations on these properties extended through June
2005 and December 2014, respectively. The company completed
an early buyout for the Williston, Vermont property during the
first quarter of 2004. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the
company entered into an agreement with Pizzagalli Properties, LLC,
to terminate the company’s lease obligations related to the facility
in Shelburne, Vermont. This transaction occurred simultaneously
with a sale of the property in Shelburne, Vermont from Pizzagalli
Properties, LLC to an unrelated third party. Under terms of
the lease termination agreement, the company paid to the lessor
$600,000 in cash and entered into an interest bearing note in the
amount of $2,513,884. See Note 5 for further discussion of the
note arrangement.
During 2004 the company recorded adjustments to reduce
the reserves for acquisition related costs by $1.9 million. The
reserve adjustments reflect a reduction in obligations associated
with the Shelburne facility resulting from the sale of that property
which allowed the company to negotiate an early exit from the
lease. The remaining reserve of $2.6 million represents estimated
costs associated with the Quakertown, Pennsylvania lease net of
anticipated sublease income. Management believes the remaining
reserve balance is adequate to cover costs associated with the
lease obligation. However, the forecast of sublease income could
differ from actual amounts, which are subject to the occupancy
by a subtenant and a negotiated sublease rental rate. If the
company’s estimates or underlying assumptions change in the
future, the company would be required to adjust the reserve
amount accordingly.
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A summary of the reserve balance activity is as follows
(dollars in thousands):
Severance
Obligations

Balance December 29, 2001

$

Reserve adjustments

3,947

Facility Closure
and Lease
Obligations

$

(92)

Balance December 28, 2002

(134)

Payments

(122)

3,285

(812)

271

Reserve adjustments

$ 10,875

3,377

(3,584)

Payments

6,928

Total

(4,396)

9,493

9,764

176

42

(1,020)

(1,142)

15

8,649

8,664

(11)

(1,875)

(1,886)

(4)

(3,986)

(3,990)

Balance January 1, 2005

—

2,788

2,788

Payments

—

Balance January 3, 2004
Reserve adjustments
Payments

Balance December 31, 2005

$

—

(190)
$

2,598

(190)
$

2,598

(11) Segment Information

The company operates in three reportable operating segments
defined by management reporting structure and operating activities.
The commercial foodservice equipment business group
manufactures cooking equipment for the restaurant and institutional kitchen industry. This business division has manufacturing
facilities in Illinois, Michigan, New Hampshire, North Carolina,
Vermont and the Philippines. This division supports four major
product groups, including conveyor oven equipment, core cooking
equipment, counterline cooking equipment, and international
specialty equipment. Principal product lines of the conveyor
oven product group include Middleby Marshall ovens, Blodgett
ovens and CTX ovens. Principal product lines of the core cooking
equipment product group include the Southbend product line
of ranges, steamers, convection ovens, broilers and steam cooking
equipment, the Blodgett product line of ranges, convection
ovens and combi ovens, MagiKitch’n charbroilers and catering
equipment and the Pitco Frialator product line of fryers. The
counterline cooking and warming equipment product group
includes toasters, hot food servers, foodwarmers and griddles
distributed under the Toastmaster brand name. The international
specialty equipment product group is primarily comprised of
food preparation tables, undercounter refrigeration systems,
ventilation systems and component parts for the U.S. manufacturing operations.

The industrial foodservice equipment business group
manufactures cooking and packaging equipment for the food
processing industry. This business division has manufacturing in
Lodi, Wisconsin. Its principal products include batch ovens,
conveyorized ovens and continuous process ovens sold under the
Alkar brand name and food packaging machinery sold under
the RapidPak brandname.
The International Distribution Division provides integrated
design, export management, distribution and installation services
through its operations in China, India, South Korea, Mexico,
the Philippines, Spain, Taiwan and the United Kingdom. The

division sells the company’s product lines and certain noncompeting complementary product lines throughout the world.
For a local country distributor or dealer, the company is able
to provide a centralized source of foodservice equipment with
complete export management and product support services.
The accounting policies of the segments are the same as
those described in the summary of significant accounting
policies. The chief decision maker evaluates individual segment
performance based on operating income. Management believes
that intersegment sales are made at established arms length
transfer prices.

The following table summarizes the results of operations for the company’s business segments (1):

(dollars in thousands)

Commercial
Foodservice

Industrial
Foodservice

$ 298,994

$

International
Distribution

Corporate
and Other (2)

Eliminations (3)

Total

2005

Net sales
Operating income

2,837

$

53,989

$

—

$

(15,367)

(39,152)
35

$ 316,668

69,710

134

3,460

Depreciation expense

2,992

49

178

16

—

3,235

Net capital expenditures

1,006

—

275

95

—

1,376

Total assets

192,207

43,410

25,869

8,338

Long-lived assets(4)

129,958

26,992

400

5,003

(5,906)
—

57,972

263,918
162,283

2004

Net sales
Operating income
Depreciation expense
Net capital expenditures

$ 257,510

$

—

$

46,146

$

—

$

(32,541)

$ 271,115

(775)

36,372

54,990

—

1,908

(19,751)

3,267

—

156

(273)

—

3,150

888

—

197

114

—

1,199

Total assets

177,271

—

24,439

14,485

Long-lived assets(4)

121,529

—

412

3,722

(6,520)
—

209,675
125,663

2003

Net sales

$ 229,402

$

—

$

42,698

$

—

40,968

—

2,182

(6,491)

3,698

—

148

(263)

869

—

36

98

Total assets

170,233

—

20,690

6,854

Long-lived assets(4)

123,910

—

509

3,234

Operating income
Depreciation expense
Net capital expenditures

$

(29,900)

$ 242,200

(1,643)

35,016

—

3,583

—

1,003

(3,157)
—

194,620
127,653

(1) Non-operating expenses are not allocated to the operating segments. Non-operating expenses consist of interest expense and deferred financing
amortization, gains and losses on acquisition financing derivatives, and other income and expenses items outside of income from operations.
(2) Includes corporate and other general company assets and operations.
(3) Includes elimination of intercompany sales, profit in inventory, and intercompany receivables. Intercompany sale transactions are predominantly
from the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group to the International Distribution Division.
(4) Long-lived assets of the Commercial Foodservice Equipment Group includes assets located in the Philippines which amounted to $2,095, $2,184
and $2,379 in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Net sales by each major geographic region are as follows:
2005

(dollars in thousands)

United States and Canada

$

256,790

2004
$

219,377

2003
$

193,610

Asia

23,399

20,846

20,319

Europe and Middle East

26,568

22,808

21,842

9,911

8,084

6,429

59,878

51,738

48,590

Latin America
Total international
$

316,668

$

271,115

$

242,200

(12) Related Party Transactions

(13) Employee Retirement Plans

On March 1, 2001, the company made a loan to its Chief
Executive Officer, in the amount of $300,000. The loan was
repayable with interest of 6.0% on February 24, 2004. This loan
was established in conjunction with the company’s commitment
to transfer 50,000 shares of common stock from treasury to the
officer at $6.00 per share. The market price at the close of
business on March 1, 2001 was $5.94 per share. In accordance
with a special incentive agreement with the officer, the loan and
the related interest were to be forgiven by the company if certain
targets of Earnings Before Taxes for fiscal years 2001, 2002,
and 2003 were achieved. As of January 3, 2004, the entire loan
had been forgiven as the financial targets established by the
special incentive agreement had been achieved. One-third of the
principal loan amount had been forgiven in fiscal 2002 and the
remaining two-thirds was forgiven in fiscal 2003. Amounts
forgiven were recorded in general and administrative expense.

(A) PENSION PLANS The company maintains a non-contributory
defined benefit plan for its union employees at the Elgin, Illinois
facility. Benefits are determined based upon retirement age
and years of service with the company. This defined benefit plan
was frozen on April 30, 2002 and no further benefits accrue to
the participants beyond this date. Plan participants will receive
or continue to receive payments for benefits earned on or prior
to April 30, 2002 upon reaching retirement age. The employees
participating in the defined benefit plan were enrolled in a
newly established 401K savings plan on July 1, 2002, further
described below.
The company also maintains a retirement benefit agreement
with its Chairman. The retirement benefits are based upon a
percentage of the Chairman’s final base salary. Additionally, the
company maintains a retirement plan for non-employee directors.
The plan provides for an annual benefit upon a change in control
of the company or retirement from the Board of Directors at age
70, equal to 100% of the director’s last annual retainer, payable
for a number of years equal to the director’s years of service up to
a maximum of 10 years.
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A summary of the plans’ benefit obligations, funded status, and net balance sheet position is as follows:
2005
Union
Plan

(dollars in thousands)

2005
Director
Plans

2004
Union
Plan

2004
Director
Plans

Change in Benefit Obligation:
Benefit obligation – beginning of year

$

Service cost
Interest on benefit obligations
Return on assets
Net amortization and deferral
Pension settlement

4,161

$

4,034

$

5,809

—

846

—

341

82

243

375

(190)

—

(215)

139

—

132

648

—

16

—

1,947

160

3,311

191

Net benefit payments

(206)

Benefit obligation – end of year

8,281

242

Net pension expense

Actuarial (gain) loss

$

944
(7,778)

549

—

(190)

—

(7)

157

(832)

$

4,695

$

1,447

$

4,161

$

8,281

$

3,483

$

3,965

$

3,346

$

2,420

Change in Plan Assets:
Plan assets at fair value – beginning of year
Company contributions

336

3,813

216

Investment gain

125

—

111

Benefit payments and plan expenses
Plan assets at fair value – end of year

(206)
$

3,738

(7,778)
$

—

1,580
71

(190)
$

3,483

(106)
$

3,965

$

(4,316)

Funded Status:
Unfunded benefit obligation

$

Unrecognized net loss
Net amount recognized in the balance sheet at year-end

(957)

$ (1,447)

2,098
$

1,141

$

—

(678)
1,674

$ (1,447)

$

$

$

—

996

$

(4,316)

—

$

(3,637)

Amount recognized in balance sheet:
Current liabilities

$

Non-current liabilities
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Net amount recognized
Salary growth rate

—
(957)
2,098

$

1,141

—
(1,447)

(678)

—
$ (1,447)

(679)

1,674
$

996

—
$

(4,316)

n/a

7.50%

n/a

3.50%

Assumed discount rate

5.75%

6.00%

6.00%

6.25%

Expected return on assets

5.50%

n/a

6.50%

n/a
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The company has engaged a non-affiliated third party professional investment advisor to assist the company develop
investment policy and establish asset allocations. The company’s
overall investment objective is to provide a return, that along with
company contributions, is expected to meet future benefit
payments. Investment policy is established in consideration of
anticipated future timing of benefit payments under the plans.
The anticipated duration of the investment and the potential for
investment losses during that period are carefully weighed against
the potential for appreciation when making investment decisions.
The company routinely monitors the performance of investments
made under the plans and reviews investment policy in consideration of changes made to the plans or expected changes in the
timing of future benefit payments.
Plan assets were invested in the following classes of securities
(none of which were securities of the company):
2004
Union
Plan

2005
Union
Plan

(dollars in thousands)

Equity

24%

28%

Fixed Income

50

59

Real Estate

26

13

100%

100%

The expected return on assets is developed in consideration
of the anticipated duration of investment period for assets held by
the plan, the allocation of assets in the plan, and the historical
returns for plan assets.
Estimated future benefit payments under the plans are
as follows:

2006

Director
Plans

Union
Plan

(dollars in thousands)

$

294

$

—

2007

299

32

2008

298

32

2009

286

32

2010

291

32

1,545

2,215

2011 thru 2015

In conjunction with the retirement of the former chairman of
the board in December 2004, the company entered into an agreement to settle obligations relating to the former chairman’s
pension. As part of this settlement, the company made payments
aggregating to $7.8 million, which were funded in part by existing
plan assets, in the first quarter of 2005 to fully settle all pension
obligations due to the former chairman. Contributions to the
directors’ plan are based upon actual retirement benefits for directors as they retire.
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Contributions under the union plan are funded in accordance with provisions of The Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974. Expected contributions to be made in 2006
are $0.2 million.
The company maintains four separate
defined contribution 401K savings plans covering all employees in
the United States. These four plans separately cover (1) the union
employees at the Elgin, Illinois facility, (2) the union employees at
the Lodi, Wisconsin facility, (3) the non-union employees at the
Lodi, Wisconsin facility, and (4) all other remaining non-union
employees in the United States not covered by one of the previous
mentioned plans. The company makes profit sharing contributions to the various plans in accordance with the requirements of
the plan. Profit sharing contributions for certain of these 401K
savings plans are at the discretion of the company.
In conjunction with the freeze on future benefits under the
defined benefit plan for union employees at the Elgin, Illinois
facility, the company established a 401K savings plan for this
group of employees. The company makes contributions to this
plan in accordance with its agreement with the union. These
contributions amounted to $219,600 for 2005, $221,400 for
2004 and $157,400 for 2003.
The 401K savings plans for both the union and non-union
employees at the Lodi, Wisconsin facility are related to the business operations of Alkar Holdings, Inc. which was acquired on
December 7, 2005. Contributions made to the union plan for
2005 were $168,800. There were no contributions for the nonunion employee plan for 2005.
The company made discretionary contributions to the 401K
savings plan covering all non-union employees other than those at
the Lodi, Wisconsin facility relating to the plan year ended 2003
in the amount of $750,000. There was no discretionary profit
sharing contribution relating to the plan for the years ended 2004
or 2005.

(B) 401K SAVINGS PLANS

(14) Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
1st

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)

2nd

3rd

4th

Total year

2005

Net sales

76,930

$ 316,668

Gross profit

$

27,072

74,889

$

32,586

83,912

$

32,476

80,937

$

29,519

121,653

Income (loss) from operations

12,003

16,337

16,284

13,348

57,972

Net earnings (loss)

$

6,348

$

8,969

$

9,628

$

7,233

$

32,178

Basic earnings (loss) per share(1)

$

0.85

$

1.19

$

1.28

$

0.96

$

4.28

Diluted earnings (loss) per share(1)

$

0.79

$

1.11

$

1.19

$

0.88

$

3.98

62,463

$

72,913

$

70,620

$

2004

Net sales

$

Gross profit

23,176

Income from operations

10,104

Net earnings (loss)
Basic earnings per share

28,793

(1)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share

(1)

26,394

14,653

12,582

65,119

$ 271,115

24,265

102,628

920

38,259

$

5,591

$

8,289

$

10,368

$

(660)

$

23,588

$

0.61

$

0.90

$

1.12

$

(0.07)

$

2.56

$

0.56

$

0.82

$

1.03

$

(0.07)

$

2.38

(1) Sum of quarters may not equal the total for the year due to changes in the number of shares outstanding during the year.

(15) Subsequent Event

In January 2006, subsequent to the fiscal 2005 year end, the
company entered into an interest rate swap agreement for a
notional amount of $10.0 million maturing on December 21, 2009.
This agreement swaps one-month LIBOR for a fixed rate of 5.03%.
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Selected Financial Data

Fiscal Year Ended(1)
2005

2004

2003

2002

2001

$ 316,668

$ 271,115

$ 242,200

$ 235,147

$ 103,642

Cost of sales

195,015

168,487

156,347

156,647

72,138

Gross profit

121,653

102,628

85,853

78,500

31,504

Selling and distribution expenses

33,772

30,496

29,609

28,213

13,180

General and administrative expenses

29,909

23,113

21,228

20,556

10,390

Stock repurchase transaction expenses

—

12,647

—

—

—

Acquisition integration reserve adjustments

—

(1,887)

—

—

—

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

INCOME STATEMENT DATA:

Net sales

57,972

38,259

35,016

29,731

7,934

6,437

3,004

5,891

11,180

740

Debt extinguishment expenses

—

1,154

—

9,122

—

Gain on acquisition financing derivatives

—

Income from operations
Interest expense and deferred financing amortization, net

Other expense, net

137

Earnings before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Net earnings

(265)

(62)

(286)

—

522

366

901

794

51,398

33,844

28,821

8,814

6,400

19,220

10,256

10,123

2,712

4,764

$

32,178

$

23,588

$

18,698

$

6,102

$

1,636

Basic

$

4.28

$

2.56

$

Diluted

$

3.98

$

2.38

$

2.06

$

0.68

$

0.18

1.99

$

0.67

$

0.18

NET EARNINGS PER SHARE:

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING:

Basic

7,514

9,200

9,065

8,990

8,981

Diluted

8,093

9,931

9,392

9,132

8,997

Cash dividends declared per common share

$

—

$

7,590

$

0.40

$

10,923

$

0.25

$

3,490

$

—

$

13,890

$

—

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

Working capital

$

12,763

Total assets

263,918

209,675

194,620

207,962

211,397

Total debt

121,595

123,723

56,500

87,962

96,199

48,500

7,215

62,090

44,632

39,409

Stockholders’ equity
(1) The company’s fiscal year ends on the Saturday nearest to December 31.
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